

## **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Health Care Manager Electronic Medical Record Systems Implementation Strategies to Improve Patient Outcomes

McArthur Bruno Damis Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons, and the Health and Medical Administration Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

#### McArthur Damis

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Warren Lesser, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janie Hall, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Rollis Erickson, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

#### Abstract

Health Care Manager Electronic Medical Record Systems Implementation Strategies to

Improve Patient Outcomes

by

McArthur Damis

BS York College CUNY, 2011 MS York College CUNY, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

Student ID: A00490264

September 2021

#### Abstract

Ineffective implementation of electronic medical record systems (EMRS) among health care outpatient clinics results in substantial financial loss. Health care managers (HCMs) in outpatient clinics who fail to implement EMRS adversely affect employee usage and performance. Grounded in fayolism theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies health care managers used to implement EMRS in their organizations. The participants were six HCMs in a U.S East Coast city. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data from semistructured interviews and internal company documents. Five themes emerged: internal communication, overcoming barriers, time management, compensation improving productivity, and data organization. A key recommendation for HCMs is to ensure that employees have adequate EMRS training to implement EMRS in health care outpatient clinics. The implications for positive social change include the potential to decrease societal health care costs and optimize health care information management for improved patient safety and wellbeing.

# Health Care Manager Electronic Medical Record Systems Implementation Strategies to Improve Patient Outcomes

by

McArthur Damis

BS York College CUNY, 2011 MS York College CUNY, 2011

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

Student ID: A00490264

September 2021

#### Dedication

I would like to dedicate this research study to my mother, Rolande Damis, and my father Brunet Damis. If it were not for them pushing me towards higher education in pursuing a doctorate degree, being supportive during my struggles, and encouraging me to never give up, I would have never reached this far. I also want to thank my mentor, Dr. Judy Pilgrim, for inspiring me and teaching me how to move forward during this DBA research study process. There were times where I felt as though my hard work to complete this DBA research study would not be attainable. However, by God's grace, my family, and the presence of positive role models and peers, I was able to reach the end of this long journey. I thank you all.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to start off by thanking my chair, Dr. Warren Lesser, for helping me get through this difficult journey. You helped me organize, edit, and structure my DBA research study, and I was able to reach you whenever I had any important questions.

Also, I thank you for encouraging me to push forward with my research study during difficult times in the process. I would also like to thank Dr. Janie Hall for her constructive feedback. Your criticisms to write, collect, and analyze the data in my research study were very helpful. Your encouraging words at the conclusion of my first and final oral defense were reassuring and uplifting, especially knowing that we are both in the rehabilitation field. Lastly, I would like to thank all of my URRs, for their expert analysis and review of my doctoral study to ensure that it meets quality academic standards. I express much gratitude to the entire committee.

This research study was a long journey that I envisioned, but at times had doubts about achieving, due to the many obstacles that stood in my way. I would like to thank my parents for continuing to believe in me towards achieving this great accomplishment. I also would like to thank my brother, Rody Damis, and sister, Marie Damis, because they inspired me to push far not only in academics, but in life. My close friends and family were also supportive of me throughout my DBA research study process. This journey taught me to have great patience and strive for my goals no matter what obstacles are in front of me.

## Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	iv	
Se	Section 1: Foundation of the Study		
	Background of the Problem	1	
	Problem Statement	2	
	Purpose Statement	3	
	Nature of the Study	3	
	Research Question	4	
	Interview Questions.	4	
	Conceptual Framework	5	
	Operational Definitions	6	
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations.	7	
	Assumptions	7	
	Limitations	8	
	Delimitations	8	
	Significance of the Study	8	
	Contribution to Business Practice	9	
	Implications for Social Change	9	
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10	
	Fayolism Theory	11	
	The History of EMRS Implementation	16	

Barriers to Implementation	18
Advantages of EMRS	21
Disadvantages of EMRS	34
Advances in EMRS	39
Necessary Future Research	43
Transition	48
Section 2: The Project	49
Purpose Statement	49
Role of the Researcher	49
Participants	51
Research Method and Design	53
Research Method	53
Research Design	54
Population and Sampling	56
Ethical Research	58
Data Collection Instruments	59
Data Collection Technique	60
Data Organization Technique	61
Data Analysis	62
Reliability and Validity	64
Transition and Summary	66

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	68
Introduction	68
Presentation of the Findings	68
Theme 1: Effective Internal Communication	69
Theme 2: Overcoming Barriers	75
Theme 3: Effective Time Management	81
Theme 4: Compensation Improved Productivity	85
Theme 5: Efficient Data Organization.	89
Application to Professional Practice	94
Implications for Social Change	96
Recommendation for Action	98
Recommendation for Further Research	100
Reflections	102
Conclusion	103
References	104
Appendix: Interview Protocol	127

## List of Tables

Table 1	Effective Internal Communication	69
Table 2	Overcoming Barriers	75
Table 3	Effective Time Management	81
Table 4	Compensation Improved Productivity	86
Table 5	Effective Data Organization	90

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Health care managers can use electronic medical record systems (EMRS) in primary care settings due to higher demands in quality patient care (Raymond et al, 2015). The Health Information Technology or Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act was passed as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) of 2009 because of the overwhelming evidence that showed EMRS enhanced health care delivery (Adler-Milstein, & Jha, 2017). Organizational leaders can consider the long-term benefits of information technology to increase efficiency in patient care within health care facilities. Health care executives also have the continuing challenge of reducing costs while delivering quality patient care (Chen, 2018).

#### **Background of the Problem**

Health care leaders had been dealing with higher costs associated with EMRS implementation (Narattharaksa et al., 2016). Prior to the 1960s all medical charts that contained patient information were kept in paper and manual filing systems (Adler-Milstein, & Jha, 2017). Federal government officials first began using EMRS, better known as decentralized hospital computer programs (DHCP), with the Department of Veteran Affairs (Atherton, 2011). By the 1980s, focus continued to shift toward the use of EMRS.

During that time, officials from the Institute of Medicine (IOM) acknowledged that there needed to be a concerted effort to analyze the effectiveness of paper records (Atherton, 2011). The researchers at IOM published results of their study in 1991 and conducted a revised study in 1997, which further showed the need for electronic health

record (EHR) usage. However, in the study, the researchers indicated that the three main barriers to EMRS adoption are: costs, lack of standards, and security issues (Atherton, 2011). In response to the growing need for EHRs, the Office of the National Coordinator (ONC) was created in 2004. Members of the federal government recognized the need to make a concerted effort to convert traditional paper medical records into EMRs (Halamka, & Tripathi, 2017). A few years later, in 2009, Congress passed the HITECH Act as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act to increase health care reimbursement and improve patient care outcomes with EMRs (Halamka, & Tripathi, 2017).

Although the adoption of EMRS through the HITECH Act improved performance in the health care industry over the past decade, there continues to be a slow rate of information technology (IT) implementation in small practices nationwide (Helton et al., 2017). One contributing factor may be that health care leaders could potentially deal with higher costs associated with EMRS implementation (Narattharaksa at al., 2016). The application and usage of EMRS can cost thousands of dollars due to the technical applications, and employee training needs (Inverso et al., 2015). Kruse et al. (2016) conducted a study where they identified 39 barriers to EMRS adoption. Kruse et al. (2016) also discovered that technical issues, maintenance costs, and staff training were issues that further complicated EMRS implementation in health care facilities.

#### **Problem Statement**

Health care executives have wasted millions of dollars when implementing EMRS in their organizations (Hoffer, 2019). Mosweu et al. (2016) revealed that approximately

38% of employees who provide health care services lack appropriate training to use EMRS. The general business problem is that some HCMs in outpatient clinics lack strategies to successfully implement EMRS in their organizations. The specific business problem is that some HCMs in outpatient clinics do not have strategies to successfully implement EMRS in their organization.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies some HCMs used to successfully implement EMRS in their organizations. The targeted population consisted of six rehabilitation HCMs in clinical settings located in a U.S East Coast city, who successfully implemented EMRS in their clinical departments. The implications for social change include the potential to have HCMs of health care outpatient clinics successfully use EMRS to decrease societal health care costs and optimize health care information management for improved patient safety and wellbeing.

#### **Nature of the Study**

Researchers use one of three methodological approaches: quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methods (Coll & Chapman, 2000). Qualitative investigators use open-ended questions to explore what has happened in an area of study (Krish et al., 2017). In contrast, quantitative methodology is where the researcher tests hypotheses and variable relationships or differences using closed-ended questions (Goertzen, 2017). The quantitative and mixed methods were not chosen for this research study because both require collecting statistical data for examining the significance of hypotheses with variables' relationships or groups' differences (Park & Park, 2016), which was not the

focus of this study. I used the qualitative method to explore the strategies small business HCMS used to improve the success rates of EMRS implementation resulting in enhanced employee performance, reduced medical errors, decreased waste of resources, and reduction of wait times.

I chose to perform a multiple case study for my qualitative research study. I first analyzed four research designs I could use for my qualitative study, including case study, narrative, phenomenological, and ethnography. Researchers who conduct narrative studies analyze the life experiences of subjects through participants' stories (Bruce et al., 2016), however I did not intend to explore the lives of individuals. Investigators who use phenomenological designs, endeavor to describe the meaning of experiences lived by individuals, which was also not the intent of my study. The ethnographic design would not be ideal for my research study either because I was not going to describe the customs of groups of people and their cultures. I chose to perform a multiple case study because it enabled me to develop an in-depth analysis of specific cases in multiple settings. The analysis of these cases in different settings, using investigative methods, was the root of this qualitative research.

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do some health care managers in outpatient clinics use to successfully implement EMRS in their organizations?

#### **Interview Ouestions**

1. What were your goals when coordinating the implementation of your organization's EMRS?

- 2. How did you plan your objectives to ensure a smooth transition from the previous medical record system to the current EMRS?
- 3. What were the key barriers to successfully implementing the strategies for EMRS?
- 4. How did your organizational leaders address the key barriers to implementing the strategies for the EMRS?
- 5. Based upon your experience within your organization, how have you been able to address staff concerns regarding EMRS implementation?
- 6. Based upon your experience within your organization, how have your employees responded to the coordination of EMRS implementation?
- 7. What were the key training strategies used to successfully implement the EMRS in your organization?
- 8. What specific training strategies were least helpful in successfully implementing the EMRS?
- 9. How do you and your organizational leaders plan to improve training for employees with future EMRS implementation?
- 10. What additional information would you like to share about EMRS implementation strategies?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework that I selected for this doctoral study is *Fayolism*, which was created by Henry Fayol in 1916 (Fayol, 1916). According to Fayol (1916), certain managerial constructs impact organizations. The tenets of the Fayolism theory are

that planning, organizing, commanding, coordinating, and control are needed for managers to govern organizations effectively (Fayol, 1916). Fayol 1916 explicated constructs managers should use to meet goals and objectives such as training employees with new organizational tools. He concluded that managers should interact with personnel using the five functions to help employees to meet objectives (Fayol, 1916). Based on other research, Fayol's five functions of management are expected to apply to how managers perform organizational duties for successful EMRS implementation (Uzuegbu & Nnadozie, 2015). Researchers found that planning, organizing, commanding, coordinating, and control can help business leaders train employees using new tools (Uzuegbu & Nnadozie, 2015). Furthermore, Fayol (1916) conceptualized 14 principles of management, to help guide his five functions. The 14 principles of management are: division of work, authority and responsibility, discipline, unity of comsmand, unity of direction, subordination of individual interest, remuneration, centralization, scalar chain, order, equity, stability, initiative, and esprit de corps.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Affordable Care Act 2010: Congress passed the Affordable Care Act in 2010, which brought significant expansion of health care coverage to millions of people who did not have health insurance in the United States (Blumenthal et al.,2015).

Electronic Medical Records and Systems (EMRS): Electronic files, or EMRs, include the medical history of patients, progress notes, treatment notes, medical diagnoses, surgery information, lab results, and summaries of medical information (Mao, & Sun, 2017). The system that manages these electronic medical files, containing the

medical histories and notes on all patients is called the EMRS (Barrett, & Stephens, 2017).

Evidence-based practice (EBP): EBP is an approach that includes multiple methodologies from different professionals to focus on evidence quality to justify decision-making and plans in an organization (Rousseau, & Gunia, 2016).

Health care manager (HCM): A HCM is a professional who delivers leadership and direction to staff in an organization that provides health care services (Laud et al., 2015).

*Implementation Strategies*: Implementation strategies are the process of putting a decision or plan into effect (Lambooij et al., 2017).

Meaningful Use Measures: Meaningful use measures are mandated by the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services to ensure that health care providers document key measures in EMRS regarding patient care to improve patient care efficiency (Heisey-Grove & King, 2017).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### **Assumptions**

Assumptions are statements that cannot be proven by the investigator (Sahin et al., 2017). In this study, I assumed that some managers who have an interest in the health care system would participate in this study. I assumed that the use of open-ended questions and a natural setting would encourage open communication and understanding with study participants. My assumption, also, was that follow-up questions and member checking functions would facilitate reliability, creditability, and trustworthiness.

#### Limitations

Limitations refer to the potential restrictions of the study which can affect the validity of the research results (Noble & Smith, 2015). To begin, the fact that this was a multiple site case study in a U.S East Coast city area may have limited the generalizability of the findings in different geographical locations. Secondly, there may have been external influences that might have altered the perceptions of the participants, affecting how they responded to the interview questions. I needed to determine the best methods to obtain accurate responses that reflect the participants' experiences with EMRS.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations describe the components of the study that are limited by the scope of the study (Baškarada, 2014). The first delimitation was the study would take place in different health care facilities, only in the U.S East Coast city area. The U.S East Coast city area would limit the number of possible participants and the level of generalizability in the results. The second delimitation was that I would collect data only by interview, and corporate documents. Using these methods, results might be based on subjective responses and interpretations of data produced by the participants and personnel from the selected facilities.

#### **Significance of the Study**

HCMs who implement EMRS bring value to health care practices by optimizing workflow, protecting sensitive patient data, and improving communication between other professionals that are relevant for positive patient results (Mao & Sun, 2017). According

to Baird and Boak (2016) EMRS can help expedite problem-solving in health care, that would otherwise take much longer. Therefore, professional use of information technology has advantages for health care provision, organizing information and ensuring that documents are stored and transferred through the proper channels. As technology improves, effective EMRS can continue to bring value to health care practices (Barrett & Stephens, 2017).

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

This study may contribute to improvement of business practice by addressing the advantages of successfully transitioning from traditional paper documentation to an EMRS and illustrating how this was accomplished by HCMs. My findings in this study could be valuable to HCMs in outpatient clinics who are trying to successfully implement EMRS as well. Rehabilitation business managers may benefit from understanding successful methods, like planning for the transition, and the command and coordination of staff's actions in response to any changes being made, leading to proper implementation, as well. Using EMRS, HCMs could improve overall financial performance by optimizing scheduling, storing critical data for treatment, and reducing reimbursement times from insurance companies, increasing efficiency (Narattharaksa et al., 2016). According to Rechtman et al. (2019), EMRS managers may even gain a competitive advantage with successful implementation.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The improvement of employee performance due to EMRS implementation can result in patients being discharged from outpatient clinics with better health outcomes

(Narattharaksa et al., 2016). The exchange of information through the EMRS is highly efficient so different professionals can communicate and perform daily work tasks effectively (Clarke et al., 2016). Therefore, the enhanced communication between different health care specialists can improve the possibility of patients having better coordinated of treatment leading to better quality of health (Narattharaksa et al., 2016).

HCMs who improve the protection of patients' confidential information also contribute to positive social change. Managers have been known to lack organization in ensuring the protection of sensitive information, which has led to data breaches (Elhai & Frueh, 2016). According to Elhai and Frueh (2016), the implementation of EMRS can help decrease the possibility of data breaches. Patient data protection could prevent fraud, financial theft, medical errors, and other consequences from a breach (Mennemeyer, et al., 2016). The security of medical records using EMRS implementation can also help protect managers from malpractice claims caused by medical errors (Elhai & Frueh, 2016). Using EMRS could potentially result in better provider-patient relationships and health outcomes, as patients may feel they can trust their provider and there is efficient handling of their private information. If patients feel that their visit process is seamless, organized, and up to date, they may feel more at ease in medical facilities and go more often to medical appointments for preventative care rather than in emergencies (Mennemeyer et al., 2016), which would be a welcome positive social change.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In this literature review, I included research about the impact managerial EMRS implementation has on the health care industry. Using the lens of the conceptual

framework of Fayolism, I analyzed the literature to examine how EMRS implementation changed organizational and industrial performance. I explored research through academic search engines and multiple databases to gather peer-reviewed research studies, journals, reports, and website articles, each no older than 5 years, filtered using keywords pertaining to EMRS usage/adoption, and concepts of Fayolism.

The literature in this study includes information on how EMRS can affect healthcare, the various methods of implementation, and the organizational effects of management-implemented EMRS. Concepts of Fayolism are found throughout the literature reviewed, as management strategies were dissected. In this literature review, following a discussion on the five functions of Fayolism and related theories, I illustrated the history of EMRS use, the importance of information technology, how managers' used Fayolism to improve EMRS implementation, advantages and disadvantages of EMRS, barriers to EMRS implementation, and the impact of EMRS use on patients. According to Clarke et al. (2016), EMRS implementation positively impacts patient outcomes when managers coordinate the right approach to enforce provider competency. As I concluded the literature review, I also acknowledged the need for further research.

#### **Fayolism Theory**

For this study's conceptual framework, I chose the Fayolism theory (Fayol, 1916). Fayol was able to define some of the essential managerial functions needed to successfully implement technological advances such as EMRS in a business setting (Fayol, 1916). Fayol was a French management theorist who conceptualized Fayolism, in 1916, and elaborated on management functions in organizations (Fayol, 1916). Business

managers have continued using Fayol's concepts to improve organizational performance years later (Edwards, 2018). Fayol created the five constructs or qualities a manager should maintain to stabilize relationships with personnel/employees. Fayol's five functions of management are planning, organizing, commanding, coordination, and control. Over time, researchers have found that managers can use the five functions to optimize employee performance in the health care industry (Edwards, 2018).

The first function of management that Fayol explained was planning. Helton et al. (2017) explained that planning is the act of anticipating future scenarios to properly allocate needed EMRS resources. EMRS implementation requires strategic planning due to organizational and industrial barriers (Helton et al., 2017). Managers are responsible for deciding how to proceed when adopting a new technology in an organization, planning how to institute EMRS and next, organizing resources for institutional needs (Helton et al., 2017).

Fayol's second function was organization of resources. Managers could use organizational skills to determine the best methods to implement EMRS (Edwards, 2018). According to Edwards (2018), managers who developed a mindset to organize resources positively impact EMRS implementation because the stakeholders of the organization can prepare for future needs. Managers may also consider organizing resources around employees who may resist changes in work demands (Edwards, 2018).

Organization is followed by Fayol's third function of management, command, where managers may need to disregard initial resistance from employees by giving directives to achieve future goals (Fayol, 1916). If managers are unable to command

employees to follow documentation protocols such as patient discharge planning, the stability of a health care organization can be negatively affected (Mijin et al., 2019). The command process may prove to be difficult when personnel cannot see the vision for organizational success. The EMRS implementation process may require managers to give directives when resistance from staff can create hardships (Mijin et al., 2019). Hence, the manager's ability to deal with employee resistance during EMRS implementation by bringing authority can help improve the acceptance and integration of the technology (Mijin et al., 2019).

The synchronization of employee efforts is vital for coordination, which is Fayol's fourth managerial function (Fayol,1916). According to Eliyana et al. (2019), to coordinate organizational goals, managers should display transformational leadership skills which would help motivate employees. Managers and personnel can coordinate together and ensure that objectives are completed Eliyana et al. (2019). The manager's use of staff training to utilize EMRS requires purposeful coordination between employers and staff for positive outcomes. The coordination between manager and employee can allow for a smooth transition from paper documentation to EMRS (Eliyana et al., 2019).

Furthermore, with Fayol's fifth managerial function, control, managers can regulate EMRS resources. The organizational leadership's use of training sessions with the staff can help managers control workplace needs and ensure employee tasks are completed according to the rules and guidelines (Bacud, 2020). Managers should control the solutions to EMRS implementation barriers, which can include the lack of computer literacy, time constraints, and a decreased familiarity with the new resource (Benwell et.

al, 2017). The manager's main responsibility in controlling EMRS implementation is to correct errors when necessary, which is important to avoid organizational issues (Msiska et al., 2017). For example, staff members may dislike using certain tools in the EMRS and use shortcuts to expedite the documentation process (Msiska et al., 2017). However, using shortcuts might not be the right way to complete necessary documents and can cause errors (Msiska et al., 2017). The manager should control these kinds of situations and enforce proper EMRS usage (Msiska et al., 2017).

According to my analysis of the cited literature, managerial employment of Fayol's five functions can improve the chance of success when implementing a new process. According to the authors and researchers in my literature review section, planning, organizing, commanding, coordination, and control were identified as methods to successfully impact employees and organizational adoption of technologies like EMRS. Health care managers (HCM) can therefore implement EMRS in their facilities using the five functions of management concepts that Fayol and others purport as effective strategies (Benwell et. al, 2017; Helton et al., 2017; Bacud, 2020; Mijin et al., 2019; Msiska et al., 2017; Edwards, 2018).

#### Alternative Conceptual Frameworks

**Diffusion of Innovation.** An alternative conceptual framework to Fayolism is the *diffusion of innovation theory* by Rogers (1962), who illustrated how business managers can implement new resources in the workplace using innovation as a motivational factor. Rogers (1962) explained that management can use motivation processes for innovation to grow over time through a social system. According to Rogers (1962) there are five

characteristics organizations demonstrate during the innovation process, which are (a) relative advantage, (b) compatibility, (c) complexity, (d) trialability, and (e) observability. The concept of diffusion is the possibility that members of the organization will adopt to new innovations, ideas, products, or services (Dearing & Cox, 2018). The innovation adoption process takes place in accordance with the length of time in a sequence associated with how long a group takes to embrace the new idea (Dearing & Cox, 2018).

The diffusion of innovation theory is broadly used by marketers today to promote adoption of new services and products (Naeem & Alqasimi, 2020). According to Naeem and Alqasimi (2020) marketers use motivation during the EMRS implementation process because of negative factors such as limited IT skills, low professional qualifications, and work-overload. Naeem and Alqasimi (2020) explained that managers should use distinct communication strategies to facilitate change in adopter group behavior. Therefore, HCMs in health care organizations may use the diffusions of innovation theory as a management function to encourage their staff to accept EMRS implementation for better business and patient outcomes.

Scientific Management Theory. Another alternative theory compared to Fayolism is the scientific management theory, also called Taylorism, conceptualized by Frederick W. Taylor between 1880 and 1890 (Awofeso, 2019). Taylor was among the first theorists to study productivity and how managers can maximize work activity for optimal business potential (Awofeso, 2019). Taylor theorized that managers should break down organizational tasks into smaller steps and find workers that best match those

assignments based on their ability (Awofeso, 2019). However, Taylorism has been opposed by researchers who argue that these concepts ignore the humanity and social aspects of the worker in order to complete work tasks (Su, 2017).

Taylor illustrated the concept of productivity, which is a one-sided view of management (Su, 2017), compared to Fayolism where there are multiple areas of managerial functions and principles addressed to improve organizational performance (Fayol, 1916). Taylor looked at workflow to improve business efficiency, however, researchers would argue that Fayolism is a more practical theory today because the five functions of managerial functions are a more holistic approach to management (Edwards, 2018).

#### The History of EMRS Implementation

The United States Congress and former President Obama passed the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2010, which changed the direction of the health care industry regarding service delivery (Gostin et al., 2017). The primary purpose of the ACA 2010 was to lower federal spending in health care. The members of congress added more provisions to the ACA such as meaningful use measures for EMRS (Mennemeyer et al., 2016). The members of the Center for Medicare and Medicaid created an EHR incentive program to achieve benchmarks with EMRS and thereby improve patient health care outcomes (Mennemeyer et al., 2016). Congress also enacted the HITECH Act as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act in February 2009, which helped to begin the integration of EMRS throughout all health care facilities with federal support (Mennemeyer et al., 2016).

Medicare and Medicaid officials established the ACA and delivered incentive payments to eligible providers in all settings who implemented and demonstrated meaningful use for certified EMRS technology (Mennemeyer et al., 2016). According to Mennemeyer et al. (2016) eligible professionals can receive up to \$44,000 through the Medicare incentive program and up to \$63,750 through the Medicaid program, which varies by state. The government legislator's focus with HITECH (2009) and ACA (2010) was to expedite the EMRS implementation process within more facilities and with professionals who are responsible for patient care. Legislators emphasized reducing cost expenditure and placing penalties on providers who did not comply with adherence to meaningful use measures. Health care providers were required to document clinical reports using meaningful use measures of EMRS to enhance organizational performance (Grinspan et al., 2017).

Currently, managers in larger health care facilities are adopting EMRS for transference of patient information and positive societal outcomes (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). According to Grinspan et al. (2017) the performance of employees in health care organizations consists of work efficiency using medical record systems (Grinspan et al., 2017. According to Adler-Milstein and Jha (2017), managers can facilitate EMRS adoption and increase efficiency, patient satisfaction, and overall facility performance. Adler-Milstein and Jha (2017) mentioned that health care providers using paper documentation can increase the likelihood of documents being inaccessible due to decreased storage and data breaching, as opposed to the usage of EMRS.

Managers using a documentation system lacking storage with easy access may hinder the transference of information, thereby impacting organizational stability (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). According to Barrett and Stephens (2017), providers who continuously use information technology can positively affect operational performance. Researchers Mao and Sun (2017) mentioned that technological advances with EMRS created improved flow of information between patients and clinical facilities. HCMs can also take advantage of technological advances in EMRS because it helps to provide clear documentation of evidence-based practice, which can communicate positive patient outcomes to insurance companies (Mao & Sun, 2017). The case for managers adopting EMRS using Fayolism concepts may seem simple; however, there can be a steep learning curve, which can cause discrepancies that disrupt EMRS implementation, especially in private outpatient clinics (Zhang & Zhang, 2016).

#### **Barriers to Implementation**

According to Jawhari et al. (2016) managers should be cognizant of EMRS implementation barriers such as budgeting, limited technology resources, and conflicting workforce norms. One reason for slow adoption is the health care provider's lack of competency, which can hinder the coordination of staff and employers for successful implementation (Sikula et al., 2016). The second reason for slow adoption is that resistance to changing organizational culture can cause employees to not take commands from managers (Msiska et al., 2017). The lack of manager coordination and command functions for EMRS implementation can either be substantial or minimal, but it can impact workflow either way (Ballaro et al., 2020). The third reason for slow EMRS

implementation is poor planning and organization for budgeting finances and technological resources (Edwards, 2018). Therefore, HCMs must think of creative ways to introduce EMRS to the workplace (Vadillo et al., 2016).

Lastly, Awol et al. (2020) stated that members of an organization may avoid usage of EMRS in health care settings, like urgent care facilities, due to the increased skill demands and a high stress environment. According to Msiska et al., (2017), under the Fayolism theory, managers may need to control unanticipated work interruptions and set a corrective action plan. To summarize, when deciding to apply information technology to an organization, managers need to be cognizant of the many potential EMRS implementation barriers that can arise for improved health care and business outcomes (Jawhari et al., 2016).

#### Use of Traditional Paper Medical Records

Managers and health care providers who still use traditional paper medical records in outpatient clinics is another barrier to EMRS implementation (Tsai et al. 2019), which may require managerial planning and organization to remedy the problem (Edwards, 2018). Lower costs is one of the reasons why many health care facility managers, especially in outpatient facilities, have been slow to transition from paper medical records to EMRS (Tsai et al. 2019). In comparison to EMRS, traditional paper medical record documentation was the original method providers used to chart patient information (Mao & Sun, 2017). However, with the changes that occurred in patient privacy laws and additional requirements for delivering higher health care quality, traditional paper medical record documentation no longer meets the national standard in retrieving and

sending information (Mao & Sun, 2017). Additionally, in the lens of Fayolism, efficiency is imperative to improve business operations using the five functions of management which are planning, organization, coordination, commanding, and control (Fayol, 1916). Health care professionals wrote patient notes onto physical charts often located in one area (Tsai et al. 2019). Managers from medical practices stored these paper documents in paper files until patients were discharged (Tsai et al. 2019). After the patient was discharged, personnel involved in managing old medical records were required to store these documents in warehouses where they could be retrieved in the future (Tsai et al. 2019).

One of the biggest disadvantages of traditional paper medical records is that personnel are required to use physical space to store paper files, which can be limited (Tsai et al. 2019). Second, traditional paper medical records can easily be mishandled or lost, which can create hardships for the health care facility and patients (Tsai et al. 2019). Third, personnel take more time to complete paper documentation than electronic medical notes because of various factors, such as multiple providers needing to write on a chart at the same time (Tsai et al. 2019). Lastly, some medical personnel may write illegibly, which can obfuscate communication regarding patient care needs (Tsai et al. 2019). In summary, traditional paper medical records are used with HCMs in outpatient clinics for cost effective reasons and training but it can be less efficient than EMRS (Tsai et al. 2019), which is due to business leaders not using the five managerial functions according to the Fayolism theory (Msiska et al., 2017).

#### **Advantages of EMRS**

I was able to conduct an extensive review of the literature where I discovered many advantages of EMRS implementation which are, benefits in reimbursement, fiscal management, data security, improving education, optimizing productivity, enhancing user satisfaction, increased data storage, and decreasing medical errors. I reviewed the literature and compared studies with research on the Fayolism theory. I discovered that managers in health care use the five functions of management (planning, organizing, coordination, command, and control) to improve EMRS implementation and the advantages mentioned.

#### Health Care Reimbursement

Managers using the planning, organization, commanding, coordination, and control tenets of Fayolism should strive to minimize the barriers to EMRS implementation, which include reimbursement policies and procedures (Edwards, 2018). Health care insurance company managers usually audit clinical documentation to ensure that providers are demonstrating client-centered care with evidence based practice (EBP) to justify reimbursement (Mosweu et al., 2016). The stakeholders in insurance companies sometimes challenge service claims because of poor documentation, which consequently limit reimbursement (Rechtman et al., 2019). Therefore, HCMs must use control managerial functions to ensure personnel write quality documentation for proper insurance reimbursement, which may require financial obligations (Rechtman et al., 2019).

According to Casalino et al., (2016), physicians spend more than 15.4 billion dollars annually on reporting health care quality measures to ensure insurance reimbursement. Also, physicians can spend approximately 785 hours annually documenting screens, patient related information, and billing codes (Casalino et al., 2016). HCMs need to spend time and capital on EMRS quality to ensure reimbursements and maintain financial stability for the organization (Mosweu et al., 2016). Hence, because of government incentives, HCMs may benefit from spending more funds to ensure providers limit documentation errors to increase the possibility of compensation, which can improve organizational stability (Casalino et al., 2016).

Managers should ensure correct EMRS usage with employees to reduce documentation errors to improve reimbursement (Hussain & Qamar, 2016). According to Bacud (2020), Fayol mentioned that managers using the control managerial function can ensure that corrective actions are in place to rectify mistakes. According to Puttkammer et al. (2016) poor documentation quality can arise from errors in software, poor user interface, or the lack of user proficiency. Health care providers having an bigger workload may also increase the possibility of documentation errors (Hussain & Qamar, 2016). However, health care providers can make corrections to legal documents and limit failed reimbursements if tools in EMRS are implemented to detect documentation errors (Hussain & Qamar, 2016). Therefore, medical errors in documentation can be reduced using corrective actions with employees and resources available in EMRS to reduce reimbursement rejections (Hussain & Qamar, 2016).

#### Fiscal Management

Fayol (1916) mentioned that managers must structure and align activities of the work environment through organization. According to Adler-Milstein and Jha (2017) managers must organize documentation through EMRS for fiscal management (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). Managers are required to ensure that health care providers are documenting quality notes in an organized manner, which demonstrate provision of treatment for patients and ensure reimbursement (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). Employees can generate desired outcomes such as increased insurance reimbursement by using EMRS to organize the data and treatment plans properly (Adler-Milstein & Jha, 2017). The HITECH Act of 2009 mandated the implementation of EMRS with the focus of adhering to quality measures, according to Medicare and Medicaid guidelines (Grinspan et al. 2017). HCMs have the responsibility to confirm that EMRS resources are in in proper order to comply with the qualifier guidelines (Grinspan et al. 2017). According to Xiao-Ying and Peiying (2016), federal guidelines mandate that health care employees provide input in EMRS, which would demonstrate proficiency with patient care. Patient care is just one of the many factors impacting fiscal management. Managerial use of organizational budgets impact EMRS implementation because increased quality of EMRS tend to be more expensive (Rittenhouse et al., 2017).

According to Rittenhouse et al. (2017) an expanded budget that allows for information technology in outpatient physician practices can increase employee satisfaction. However, the HCM would need to budget for resource expenses while ensuring EMRS quality. For example, if leadership in a health care facility has a growing

need to service a growing patient census, then a high quality EMRS with 24/7 technical support may be necessary to ensure stability (Ngugi et al., 2018). Therefore, managers should use their leadership skills, and other resources, to not only implement a possibly expensive EMRS, but to also bring forth a reliable support team that can ease the resistance to EMRS adoption (Eliyana et al., 2019).

Transformational leaders can help relieve financial issues by decreasing stress levels, improving motivation, and inspiring workers to achieve needed goals, despite a low budget pool and limited resources (Eliyana et al., 2019). Adversely, managers who overlook the needs of the employee, create an environment where motivation is lacking and consequently generate higher turnover rates (Eliyana et al., 2019). Employees need to feel confident that their immediate supervisors are there to help alleviate any issues that may arise with organizational changes, not just pile on more work (Eliyana et al., 2019).

In addition to using transformational leadership skills, managers may look for technical resources within an EMRS to help solve budget needs. According to Dainton and Chu (2017), practitioners who embark on medical service trips should consider mobile EMRS to maintain data management and integration of evidence-based decision support. Along with hardware options such as mobile EMRS, software tools may also accommodate organizational needs. According to Msiska et al. (2017) EMRS can be regarded as flawed if the right software infrastructure is not applied correctly. Managers should explore options for information technology hardware as EMRS could help remedy issues in the short term and improve fiscal needs (Msiska et al., 2017).

#### Ensuring patient protection

Information technology systems can be important for the enhanced security provided for patient records, which require coordination and planning from the manager of operations (Edwards, 2018). The health care leader ensuring protection against patient data breaching is paramount (Or et al., 2018). According to Sher et al. (2017), an employee's preconceived fears of security breaches can create the perception of data vulnerability. On the other hand, health care practitioners may only perceive the importance of EMRS information security when threats are present, which raises alertness (Sher et al., 2017). Therefore, managers should train all staff and providers to ensure that proper measures are taken to protect sensitive information throughout the EMRS data entry process (Or et al., 2018).

According to Lele (2019), it is important for health care providers to understand the nuances of security tools in EMRS to prevent data breaching, which may take time. Health care providers should be trained by management on the protocols needed to protect patient information effectively (Lele et al., 2019),

According to Enaizan et al. (2020), HCMs have the responsibility to comply with regulations and security policies to protect patient privacy. Data breaches can have serious consequences, which can be caused by the lack of management to protect patient information (Enaizan et al., 2020). HCM protection of patient data can prevent fraud, financial theft, medical errors, and other consequences. Unfortunately, there are managers in health care facilities who do not prioritize EMRS data protection needs (Enaizan et al., 2020). Managers would be wise to view information technology administrators, staff, and

EMRS resource tools as a network for a holistic view of the adoption process (Msiska et al., 2017). Managerial usage of security compliance training may decrease the possibility of a data breach.

Federal government officials have observed that EMRS protection is not a priority among health care organizations as the increases data breaches remains an issue (Enaizan et al., 2020). The cost expenditure associated with data breaches makes it imperative for health care leaders to prioritize data protection. Department of Health and Human Services personnel have become more aggressive with HIPPA regulations requiring massive fines to be paid if data breaches are detected (Enaizan et al., 2020). Organizational leaders within health care organizations can lose millions of dollars in revenue after a data breach, which can also lead to financial instability (Enaizan et al., 2020).

Executives and staff should understand that protecting patient information can actually improve workflow, while minimizing exposure of sensitive data (Enaizan et al., 2020). Health care officials may lose the benefit of modern technology by not using EMRS tools to protect sensitive information (Enaizan et al., 2020). For example, a provider failing to close a note that is open on the computer screen may expose patient information. Health care providers inadvertently exposing patient information to other personnel not associated with patient care can increase the possibility of HIPPA violations (Anderson et. al, 2017). The health care personnel's security compliance can not only decrease the risk of information being exposed, but can help patients trust that health care providers have their best interests in mind (Anderson et. al, 2017). Therefore,

understanding EMRS would improve the way providers share, store, and protect patient information, ensuring successful EMRS implementation, which requires planning, organization, and coordination.

#### Education in Healthcare

HCMs may organize data from electronic medical record systems to educate future medical professionals. According to Hashim and Khan (2018), managers in the health care field give minimal attention towards EMRS in clinical teaching. Hashim and Khan (2018) explained that although clinical data is important to help improve communication, billing, administration needs, and meeting regulatory appliance standards, there is also a need for learners to use EMRS as a tool to enhance education. Hashim and Khan (2018) found that the participants in their study expressed the need for education in clinical decision making, which included structured differential diagnosis, clinical imagery, and direct links to search engines.

According to Bergquist et al. (2020), managers can use EMRS to detect temporal patterns related to traumatic injuries. For example, during the wintertime, snowboarding injuries can be more prevalent as compared to boating accidents in the springtime. The temporal patterns related to traumatic injuries which are detected in EMRS can be an informative tool to educate students and professionals, regarding how to anticipate and possibly better treat injuries in the future. Health care professionals may also use other EMRS features that can enhance treatment delivery, such as the detection of medical conditions that are time-based (Bergquist et al., 2020). The researchers further concluded that EMRS can be a useful resource in informing the public through retrospective

analysis of medical conditions, made accessible to professionals, facilities and other researchers.

Another research study was conducted by Choi et al. (2018) aimed to analyzing the usefulness of an academic electronic medical record (AEMR) application for undergraduate nursing students during their clinical rotations. Choi et al. (2018) conducted a quasi-experimental design research study with 75 third year nursing students enrolled in a clinical practicum. The 75 students were split into an experimental group and a control group. The usability of the AEMR was assessed in the experimental group whereas the control group did not use an electronic medical record system. The conclusion of the study revealed that the experimental group was able to increase their competencies in documentation of observations and interventions (Choi et al., 2018).

The research supports the apparent usefulness of EMRS when it comes to on-the-job education in health care facilities (Hashim & Khan, 2018), as well as preparatory education in academia (Choi et al., 2018). Managers would be wise to view information technology administrators, staff, and EMRS resource tools as a network for a holistic view of the adoption process (Msiska et al., 2017). Therefore, based on the research by (Hashim & Khan, 2018), (Bergquist et al., 2020), and (Choi et al., 2018), HCMs can organize EMRS data to educate other current and future health care providers in different areas of need for societal benefits.

# Improving Productivity and Efficiency

HCMs planning, coordinating, and organizing strategies to implement EMRS for increased productivity in the workplace are behaviors that are consistent with the tenets

of Fayolism (Bacud, 2020). HCMs may care about organizational needs to increase efficacy and maintain productivity. One of the important components of EMRS is the capability of multidisciplinary communication (Lieu et al., 2019). Organizational leaders using communication may increase the chances that health care providers meet productivity goals set by managers and complete certain objectives. However, to improve performance, managers should ensure that the staff understands company protocols (Lieu et al., 2019).

The managerial goals of productivity and efficiency require the collaboration of multiple people in an organization. Staff interdisciplinary coordination may help to reduce unnecessary costs associated with miscommunication. According to Guo et al. (2017), interdisciplinary staff cohesion using EMRS can improve workflow and reduce stress during peak times.

Incidentally, although during peak times more patient face-to-face interactions is said to foster trust and a better workflow, the employee usage of EMRS can limit patient face-to-face interaction (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). Therefore, it is important that managers structure the work environment properly to account for proper time frames between face-to-face interaction and EMRS usage (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). Health care providers deliver good client-centered care by personally communicating to patients, developing rapport, and emphasizing quality treatment to them (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). Unfortunately, providers can be bombarded with endless productivity demands, which can limit face-to-face interactions with patients. Managers can find good strategies to incorporate frequent interactions between health care providers and patients

(Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). The patient and clinician's face-to-face interactions may improve workflow, patient safety, and increase employee satisfaction, which can also improve productivity and financial stability (Guo et al., 2017).

# Increase in User Satisfaction

Employee satisfaction can enhance patient satisfaction with health care services, which can enhance coordination (Eliyana et al., 2019). According to Fayol, managers can use coordination as a way to harmonize the activities of each organizational unit to ensure stability in the workplace (Bacud, 2020). Patients should be the priority when it comes to health care provision, but employees, who are sometimes not content in their job roles, can potentially produce a negative atmosphere in the workplace (Eliyana et al., 2019). EMRS can help improve job satisfaction by decreasing the time needed to record, protect, and communicate important patient information (Lieu et al., 2019).

Health care providers have the difficult task of treating patients and documenting notes, which can increase stress levels. Job stress can elevate as productivity demands increase, which can hinder organizational performance (Lieu et al., 2019). However, according to Lieu et al. (2019), user satisfaction can increase with the extended use of EMRS when time is allotted for documentation. According to Eliyana et al. (2019), job stress can be attributed to burnout where high levels of emotional exhaustion can induce poor performance. Therefore, it would be in an employer's best interest to consider how to increase employee satisfaction in conjunction with the implementation of EMRS to ensure coordination.

Cocosila and Archer (2017) conducted a study that analyzed a theoretical model on pre-adoption views of EMRS by Canadian health care practitioners. In the past, researchers have analyzed the factors that contribute to EMRS implementation in large organizations, but few researchers have evaluated the practitioners' perceptions of information technology prior to its inception. HCMs would benefit to assess the health care provider's view on EMRS prior to adoption because insufficient adoption and usage of EMRS is a multi-faceted problem that can affect the overall performance of the organization (Cocosila & Archer, 2017). The researchers concluded that the two factors that influenced perception of EMRS adoption were ease of use toward the technology and existing job stress. Therefore, ensuring that personnel are experiencing high job satisfaction can increase successful implementation because when morale is high, the willingness to adopt a new EMRS is increased as well (Lieu et al., 2019).

## Information Storage

One area of need that can sometimes be overlooked for EMRS implementation is the importance of data storage (Zhang et al., 2021), where organization is the manager's responsibility (Bacud, 2020). Managers need to take initiative to be sure they are properly handling and managing EMRS documents, which can reduce health care costs (Zhang et al., 2021). Health care clinicians using digital storage of patient data is imperative to prevent costly mismanagement of information (Zhang et al., 2021).

Health care providers can use cloud-based systems to store patient information on an external server or documentation can be saved in client-server systems in the office (Zhang & Zhang, 2016). Health care staff who use offsite cloud systems benefit from the

reduced need for in-house technology resources (Zhang et al., 2021). Information storage and management considerations can play an important role in efficiency, thus managers need to plan ahead to ensure that they can accommodate the demand.

### Reducing Medical Errors

Although managers using EMRS storage can help prevent mistakes in documentation, health care providers should be careful with documenting notes to avoid errors (Alshaban & Almasri, 2020). According to Alshaban and Almasri (2020), preventable medical errors rank third in the cause of deaths in America with almost a half million casualties per year. Alshaban and Almasri (2020) also stated that active and latent medical errors are two main causes of negative health care outcomes. Active medical errors occur due to mistakes and lapses. Latent errors are caused by organizational design such as poor training, inadequate design, and a lack of categorization (Alshaban & Almasri, 2020).

Health care personnel who use EMRS have the advantage of possibly reducing medical errors (Alshaban & Almasri, 2020), however, avoiding such errors can be difficult, especially when employees are required to multitask (Ratanawongsa et al., 2018). Multitasking occurs when clinicians perform two or more assignments simultaneously. Multitasking while using information technology may actually increase the rate of these medical errors (Ratanawongsa et al., 2018). Ratanawongsa et al. (2018) explained that to minimize employee stress and burnout, potentially leading to mistakes, managers can enforce delaying EMRS documentation until after a patient visit.

how employees use EMRS functions and processes when considering organizational design (Ratanawongsa et al., 2018).

In one study on healthcare manager leadership, Sushil and Raziuddin (2018) found a correlation between the implementation of EMRS and the perceived reduction of medical errors. Sushil and Raziuddin (2018) also stated that an EMRS user can discover evidence-based recommendations for preventative services, which can potentially reduce additional medical errors. Sushil and Raziuddin (2018) noted that the direct costs to implement EMRS in a multi-physician health care facility averages to be around \$162,000 over a period of 5 years, which appears negligible when considering the millions of dollars that are spent for health care costs with human life. The cost/benefits with reducing medical errors and wasteful spending can certainly be taken into consideration when adopting EMRS (Sushil and Raziuddin, 2018).

In a similar study, Jindal and Raziuddin (2018) realized the importance of EMRS to reduce medical errors. Jindal and Raziuddin (2018) examined the use of EMRS and its functions by professionals with experience using EMRS. Using a quantitative method, the researchers surveyed 100 medical professionals practicing nanomedicine in Phoenix Arizona. Jindal and Raziuddin (2018) reported that the most common medical errors health care professionals observed during audits included errors on hand-written prescriptions, and improper dosage delivery to patients. Jindal and Raziuddin (2018) stated that errors on hand-written prescriptions and improper dosage delivery have partly contributed to the increased costs in health care. Jindal and Raziuddin (2018) study results also showed a direct correlation between the number of years experienced using

EMRS and the reduction of medical errors. Furthermore, there was a significant relationship between the overall use of EMRS and the reduction of wrong site surgery and dosage delivery errors (Jindal & Raziuddin, 2018). Jindal and Raziuddin (2018) concluded that, although medical errors can be reduced with EMRS, the competencies of the medical professionals using the technology is also important.

### **Disadvantages of EMRS**

HCMs may encounter possible disadvantages when implementing EMRS. The three possible disadvantages discovered through the research were fraudulent billing, training necessities, and budgeting needs. However, through the lens of Fayolism, three managerial functions were revealed through the research that can rectify disadvantages in EMRS implementation with are planning, organizing, and control (Bacud, 2020).

#### Fraudulent Billing

United States legislators passed the False Claims Act in 1986 where they focused on holding health care personnel and organizations responsible for dishonestly receiving funds from government programs (Howard, 2020). The federal government can bring forth litigation against any employee or manager who commits fraud using EMRS or any other tool for billing. The policymakers included the "qui tam" provision in the False Claims Act where for person, including those who are not associated with the facility, can report fraudulent activities with EMRS billing (Howard, 2020). Health care workers or civilians who report these unethical acts are called whistleblowers (Pozgar, 2016).

Health care providers who code and charge for services that were not performed commit fraudulent billing (Koppel & Kuziemsky, 2019). Health care providers and

organizations can also bundle procedures with additional services that were not performed (Howard, 2020. Health care providers need to document all necessary paperwork to justify services for proper health care reimbursement (Pozgar, 2016). Coders help prepare Medicare and Medicaid government claims using a specific digital language that clearly indicates the specificity of services that providers performed (Howard, 2020). However, health care providers can also intentionally use specific codes in EMRS to fraudulently bill for services for increased payouts (Howard, 2020).

The prevalence of fraudulent billing has increased annually with more usage of EMRS (Koppel & Kuziemsky, 2019), however, managers can use Fayol's suggested managerial function, control, to limit deceitful use of billing codes (Edwards, 2018). Fortunately, managers optimizing EMRS technology can improve the detection of fraudulent billing (Koppel & Kuziemsky, 2019). Health care providers need to ensure the usage of billing codes are specific so insurance companies are charged for services accurately (Howard, 2020). Usually, managers can detect these mistakes but, it is also helpful for employees to monitor mistakes to prevent any unnecessary mishaps (Howard, 2020).

### Training Necessities

HCMs must consistently train their subordinates in using EMRS for successful implementation, which is another disadvantage (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019), but training needs can be rectified using proper planning and organization through the lens of Fayolism (Edwards, 2018). HCMs are required to learn the new guidelines necessary for EMRS documentation. Health care providers should understand how to properly

document services for reimbursement for the organization (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019).

Field inspectors from the Center for Medicare and Medicaid (CMMS) frequently audit medical records to confirm that notes are accurate (Heisey-Grove & King, 2017). Insurance company personnel can also detect errors in a medical note which can cause them to reject the documentation (Heisey-Grove & King, 2017). Leaders in health care facilities should train their staff to understand standard protocol for documentation in EMRS (Jawhari et al., 2016).

According to members of the CMMS, health care documents should be legible, which include progress notes, prescriptions, and orders (Heisey-Grove & King, 2017). Health care providers misreading patient documents can cause medical errors and other adverse patient events. Clinicians are required to have patient records completed with all pertinent information which includes diagnosis, treatment, and services performed (Heisey-Grove & King, 2017). Health care providers should also document time, date, and patient identifiers in their documents. Health care stakeholders have the responsibility to ensure that notes are qualified for insurance reimbursement (Heisey-Grove & King, 2017). Therefore, it is important for managers to train health care employees in the use of proper medical terminology when using EMRS (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019).

Health care providers should use the right terms to justify their level of expertise when providing services to patients (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019). Health insurance company personnel want to confirm that a licensed health care provider, with the right

skill sets, performed the correct treatment and that the documentation has the correct medical terminology (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019). Outside of billing, staff entering the wrong medical terms can cause medical errors to occur (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019). Clinicians using non-distinct medical terms can cause communication to be unclear which can lead to problems in treatment and adverse patient outcomes (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019). Therefore, HCMs training their employees can be paramount to successful EMRS implementation (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019), using two key managerial functions according to Fayol, which are planning and organization (Edwards, 2018).

# **Budget Needs**

Health care managers may need to budget for EMRS implementation, which is another disadvantage (Green, 2017). However, according to Bacud (2020), HCMs can utilize planning and organization as managerial functions to budget for EMRS implementation. According to Green (2017), 38% of health care chief information officers (CIO) listed EMR optimization as the top area planned for investing and budgeting over the next three years. HCMs should consider the potential benefits with EMRS implementation while determining a budget for their organization (Maddox et al., 2017). The potential financial benefits of EMRS are increased efficiency, reduction of waste, and better financial and operational performance (Green, 2017). However, HCMs cannot justify EMRS implementation for private practices due to financial benefits alone because budgeting for capital expenses and projecting an expected return on investment (ROI) can be a difficult process (Green, 2017).

HCMs can determine whether to invest in EMRS by using a ROI and EMRS cost-benefit analysis (Green, 2017). The ROI is the calculation of how much financial gains an investment will bring compared to the funds spent implementing the resource. HCMs can use EMRS cost benefit analysis to quantify both tangible and intangible expenses (Green, 2017). According to Green (2017), the second factor that HCMs should determine is the overall short and long-term costs of EMRS. The HCM would need to evaluate the total cost of ownership (TCO). The three categories an HCM can look at are upfront costs, yearly costs, and 5-year TCO (Green, 2017).

The HCM can also investigate different deployment methods when factoring in different costs of EMRS implementation. Managers can use two deployment methods which are on-premises EMRS or cloud-based EMRS (Green, 2017). However, a HCM should explore the TCO, which can increase overtime with on-premises EMRS (Green, 2017). The manager's TCO for an on-premises EMRS implementation can increase due to necessary adjustments and fees as compared to cloud-based EMRS (Green, 2017). The health care administrator should evaluate the needs and fiscal resources of the organization and then choose the appropriate EMRS system (Green, 2017).

Organizational managers can expect hidden costs that come with EMRS implementation such as project maintenance, training fees, software licensing, and on-site hardware (Green, 2017). HCMs initiating EMRS implementation can also expect indirect costs such as decreased revenue, loss of productivity, and decreased patient visits (Green, 2017). Therefore, managers can expect direct and indirect costs when budgeting for

EMRS implementation, but with careful planning and organization the HCM can tolerate the expenses (Green, 2017).

Researchers say that HCMs should consider three factors when assessing EMRS implementation costs in private practices, which are fraudulent billing, expenses long term within five years, and training necessities (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019; Green, 2017; Rechtman et al., 2019). However, through the lens of Fayolism, the researchers stated that proper planning and organization of resources can remedy these problems (Flasher & Lamboy-Ruiz, 2019; Green, 2017; Rechtman et al., 2019). Rechtman et al., (2019) reported that the number of doctor-owned businesses dropped from 53% to 47% while hospital ownership of medical practices increased. Therefore, although EMRS appears to have advantages, considerations can be made through planning and organizing of resources before transitioning to the tool to alleviate disadvantages, especially for small health care practices.

### **Advances in EMRS**

I conducted review of the literature where I identified two advances in EMRS implementation which are personal health record systems (PHRS), and mobile devices. The researchers in the studies discovered that HCMs used coordination, which is one of Fayol's management functions, with their patients and employees to deploy these two EMRS tools. As discussed earlier, Fayol described coordination as a way for managers to galvanize and motivate groups through good communication (Bacud, 2020).

# Personal Health Record Systems

According to Hawthorne and Richard (2017), there are managers in organizations who are allowing patients to have access to open notes in their medical records. As a result, patients and health care providers co-create the documents in patient health record system (PHRS). Patients and health care providers can use PHRS to collect and share past/current health care information (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). The purpose of the PHRS is for HCMs to help patients keep track of their medical history and lab results online (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). Using the PHRS, the patient can access health records that otherwise would be difficult to retrieve. Managers can gain advantages coordinating with patients to use PHRS by improving the delivery of health care information.

Advantages. Health care providers have traditionally used EMRS to document patient data. However, providers can allow patients to manage data pertaining to their health care by using PHRs and thereby improving medical outcomes (Heath & Porter, 2017). According to Heath and Porter (2017), patients who use PHR often develop positive outcomes because they can engage with health care providers involved in their care provision. Managers can help patients feel empowered by using PHRS through navigating their information such as blood pressure, heart rates, and medicine prescribed from current and previous provider visits (Heath & Porter, 2017). The patient can also make decisions with medical needs using PHRS (Heath & Porter, 2017).

**Disadvantages.** The disadvantage with PHR is that patients may possibly wait for health care personnel to send over information electronically who are not part of the PHR

portal (Bouayad et al., 2017). Consequently, patients would enter information manually for those providers who are not part of the PHR system. Also, patients would possibly have to ensure that the data sent over the database is correct and assess any errors made by the provider (Bouayad, et al., 2017). Patients who are not used to being involved in managing their own health care through data entry and data checking may find the process tedious (Bouayad, et al., 2017).

#### Mobile Devices

Clinicians can use mobile devices to access information systems away from traditional locations (Modena et al., 2018). Providers who use mobile devices for medical record charting have resulted in increased productivity and efficiency due to easier access to patient data, which can expedite treatment needs (Modena et al., 2018). Health care providers are expected to document patient notes in a timely manner regardless of limited access to computers. According to Modena et al. (2018), health care practitioners observed that mobile devices improved access to clinical records while allowing for more flexible hours which improved work-life balance (Modena et al., 2018). However, although health care providers found mobile devices useful in restricting environments, there are advantages and disadvantages that should be considered for patient care (Modena et al., 2018).

Advantages. The health care practitioner can update patient information in real time during critical moments in care by using mobile devices (Schachner et al., 2016). In another study, Lomotey and Deters (2018) explained that when wireless connections are available, managers can help improve the use of EMRS by using mobile technology.

Health care providers can keep these portable devices in hand to track important information (Lomotey & Deters, 2018). Practitioners can find mobile devices more useful and efficient for maintaining medical records in fast-paced acute health care settings (Lomotey & Deters, 2018). According to Schachner et al. (2016), many practitioners have expressed that mobile devices are easier to use than traditional EMRS. However, using mobile devices for patient records may be prohibitive for some health care providers.

Disadvantages. One of the disadvantages of using mobile devices for patient records is the cost of technology (Schachner et al., 2016). HCMs choosing poor connection speeds with mobile devices to lower technology costs can create a major barrier to updating, uploading, or delivering information, which can affect patient outcomes (Schachner et al., 2016). HCMs using limited wireless resources cannot provide adequate internet connection and bandwidth which can hinder the communication between health care providers (Lomotey and Deters, 2018). Second, information technology (IT) support is necessary because of different levels of security and software issues that can arise (Modena et al., 2018). The complexity of protecting patient information increases with the use of mobile devices because of the risk of data theft (Modena et al., 2018). Third, additional IT training is necessary to avoid any errors in patient data input because different mobile devices may require various documentation needs (Schachner et al., 2016).

HCMs may find PHRS and EMRS on mobile devices useful because patients and clinicians can increase their involvement using both tools. Subsequently, managers

should coordinate with their staff to ensure deployment of the EMRS tools is successful (Edwards, 2018). Managers should consider advancements in technology when deciding on how to successfully implement EMRS and train their personnel. HCMs and staff can collaboratively take advantage of these tools and resources, which is a strategy that can improve their usage of EMRS (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017; Schachner et al., 2016; Modena et al., 2018).

## **Necessary Future Research**

Allen-Graham et al. (2017) found that documentation guidelines for medical history must be in place for EMRS because critical information is typically missing from records such as demographics, and medical/surgical history. Allen-Graham et al. (2017) discovered that there are three main issues with health care providers' usage of EMRS. First, there are few standardized protocols adopted by providers for health care documentation (Allen-Graham et al., 2017). Second, the information documented, managed, and stored is variable and dependent upon the management needs of the health care facility (Allen-Graham et al., 2017). Third, the vast variability of patient information across all facilities has created ambiguity among health care providers, which can create negative outcomes (Allen-Graham et al., 2017). Therefore, personnel in the health care industry would benefit from a universal standardized EMRS across all health care domains (Allen-Graham et al., 2017).

# Implementation Needs for Private Health Care Practices

Researchers Namageyo-Funa et al. (2018) conducted a study investigating the development of EMRS designed with immunization components used throughout health

care facilities, in Kenya. The researchers compared the selected EMRS with a standardized paper documentation system, the Maternal and Child Health Booklet (Namageyo-Funa et al., 2018). Namageyo-Funa et al. (2018) discovered that the data elements necessary to replace the standardized paper-based system were not found in every EMRS (Namageyo-Funa et al., 2018). Based on these results, Namageyo-Funa et al. (2018) concluded that further research must be done to assess the factors needed to fully adopt a uniform EMRS that matches the standardized paper-based system for immunization in Kenya.

Another research study was performed in user functionality of EMRS programs to improve health care business performance in outpatient clinics (James et al., 2017). James et al. (2017) found that many EMRS users input textual data that is unorganized and focused on financial and regulatory performance. James et al. (2017) investigated two different designs, an activity-based design that has a proven approach for integrating clinical decision support into front line care delivery, and a commercially-available EMRS that produced text-based data (James et al., 2017). James et al. (2017) found that the activity-based design EMRS enhanced the structure of textual clinical documentation which created computable data and allowed for faster response in care delivery (James et al., 2017). James et al. (2017) showed the importance of proper input into EMRS in private health care practices because many HCMs rely on computable data, such as templates, diagnosis codes, and billing codes.

In addition, a research study was conducted in the improvements of health care provision by gathering EMRS data that pertains to social factors (Awol et al., 2020).

According to Awol et al., (2020), health care practitioners may benefit from collecting important social history for patient records such as demographics, employment, and financial resource restraints. Managers of health care facilities may benefit from the data capture of social determinants to improve discharge planning, which can help patients thrive at home (Awol et al., 2020). Managers can then plan accordingly to ensure that the appropriate resources are in place to address these social factors.

HCMs should also consider all factors impacting EMRS implementation in outpatient clinics. According to Furusa and Coleman (2018), HCMs may need to consider internal and external factors when implementing EMRS. The internal factors that affect EMRS implementation include infrastructure, knowledge, technical support, interdisciplinary relationships, patient interactions, and IT security (Furausa & Coleman, 2018). The external factors that affect EMRS implementation are health care funding, policies, and government laws (Furausa & Coleman, 2018). In summary, research was conducted regarding several EMRS implementation needs with private health care practices including uniformity with EMRS (Namageyo-Funa et al., 2018), user functionality (James et al., 2017), and gathering detailed data in social factors (Awol et al., 2020).

## Budgeting for EMRS and how it Affects Private Health Care Practices

According to Ngugi et al. (2018), it is important for HCMs to look at the end goal when finalizing a budget. HCMs have questioned whether the EMRS investments made for a private practice have translated into improved patient outcomes (Ngugi et al., 2018). Managers of private practices have resisted implementing EMRS because of high costs

(Helton et al., 2017). HCMs of outpatient clinics risk may negatively impacting organizational workflow by miscalculating budget needs for resources such as EMRS (Barrett & Stephens, 2017). Therefore, it is important for managers to analyze the necessary finances available for EMRS implementation resources to possibly improve business success.

In summary of the literature review, HCMs can positively impact the success of their private practice with EMRS implementation (Ngugi et al., 2018). Fayol (1916) conceptualized five functions of management. HCMs can increase the possibility of a positive employee and patient experience using the Fayolism concepts during EMRS implementation (Bacud, 2020). Managers can use functions rooted in Fayolism which include: planning to prepare and anticipate future scenarios and needs (Helton et al., 2017), organizing to ensure that there are enough resources for employees to have a positive usage experience (Zhang et al., 2021), commanding to give employees clear performance expectations and directives (Mijin et al., 2019), coordinating to ensure that employees in multiple disciplines are able to collaborate successfully (Eliyana et al., 2019), and control where HCMs address issues with employees by giving directives (Benwell et. al, 2017). Alternative theories like the innovation diffusion theory (Rogers, 1962), and the scientific management theory (Awofeso, 2019) illustrate an alternative view to managerial functions compared to Fayolism.

HCMs should overcome barriers using the Fayol (1916) functions of management to resolve issues such as, continued use of traditional paper documentation for convenience without assessing the long term benefits (Tsai et al., 2019) and employee

resistance or adjustment considerations (Ballaro et al., 2020; Robert et al., 2016; Jung et al., 2017). HCMs often have to ensure that money is not wasted implementing a system that staff will avoid using or use ineffectively (Tsai et al., 2019). Additional benefits of successful EMRS implementation include efficiency with communication among multiple professionals (Lieu et al., 2019), improved usage with portability for employees (Modena et al., 2018), more organized information input (Sushil and Raziuddin, 2018), patient record data storage (Zhang et al., 2021), increased protection of data for patient privacy (Rittenhouse et al., 2017), and improved employee communication with patients using features like PHR (Hawthorne & Richards, 2017). HCMs can keep employee morale high, patient satisfaction high, and also maintain adherence to documentation standards according to federal guidelines (Howard, 2020). Leaders in health care ensuring that employees are well-trained and are provided with the proper resources can increase the chance of successful EMRS implementation (Bergquist et al., 2020).

## **Transition**

I elaborated on the problem statement and the research question in section 1. I then discussed the purpose of my study, which is the overall reasoning behind my research. Other areas covered in Section 1 were the background of the problem, nature of the study, interview questions, conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, and significance of study. I then concluded Section 1 with a review of the literature.

In Section 2, I discussed the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population sampling, ethical research, data collection, data organization techniques, and data analysis. I then concluded Section 2 by elaborating on the reliability and validity of the study.

## Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I discuss the project. I elaborate on the purpose statement, my role as a researcher, and the participants involved in my research study. I then follow-up with a review of the data collection instruments, data organizing techniques, data analysis, reliability and validity. There are additional topics discussed along with the transition statement to conclude the section.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies HCMs in outpatient clinics used to successfully implement EMRS in their organizations. The targeted population consisted of six rehabilitation HCMs in clinical settings, located in a U.S East Coast city, who have successfully implemented EMRS in their clinical departments. This population was appropriate for my study because HCMs in outpatient clinics can properly implement EMRS to achieve improvements in employee and organizational performance. The implication for social change is the higher potential for EMRS implementation success in outpatient clinics, thereby decreasing societal health care costs, optimizing health care information management, and potentially increasing the possibility of health care positive outcomes for the community, which would improve the patient's wellbeing.

#### Role of the Researcher

My role was to gather data that addressed the specific business problem, in order to help future HCMs discover strategies to successfully implement EMRS in their organizations. Researchers assume responsibility as investigators by collecting data using

qualitative methods such as interviews with open-ended questions (Krish et al., 2017). To collect data, I first found the right participants who could bring relevant insight and information to solving the business problem. I chose interviews as my primary method to collect data from the HCMs (see Appendix: Interview Protocol). I selected participants who successfully implemented EMRS in their organization using a telephone script.

I did not have any previous personal or business relationships with the participants in this study. My knowledge of the topic stems from an extensive analysis of EMRS in rehabilitation health care settings. I was then able to further recognize the problem through an extensive review of the literature.

Researchers use the Belmont Report to review the basic principles for protecting human subjects in research (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). I adhered to the principles in the Belmont Report to ensure respect for others, beneficence, and justice. I followed the Belmont report principles to enhance ethical compliance by using an informed consent form, which included disclosures of risks and benefits. The study did not include groups that were vulnerable, such as the sick, economically disadvantaged, or racial minorities. The Walden IRB board members approved this study before I conducted my field research (approval number 01-21-20-0490264).

Researchers and participants personally interacting with each other in a study can create bias, which can alter the conclusion (Hesse et al., 2019). Although I reviewed data through a personal lens, I mitigated bias by using bracketing. Researchers use the bracketing method to mitigate the chances of preconceived notions, personal experiences, and biases about a research topic (Hesse et al., 2019). Stemming from previous

experiences, researchers may have predisposed views regarding a study topic (Hesse et al., 2019). Researchers using the bracketing process can eliminate the emotional attachment, which can skew results (Hesse et al., 2019).

I prevented bias and controlled each interview by developing and following an interview protocol. A qualitative researcher should ensure that the interview questions align with the population and research question to elicit detailed information (Hesse et al., 2019). The rationale for an interview protocol was to confirm that each interview question would help me drive answers to my overarching study research question. I did not elicit information that went beyond the research question. I utilized semistructured interview questions to allow an open discussion to occur in a structured format.

I supported every decision with a scholarly peer-reviewed article or seminal source. The purpose of supporting qualitative research with peer-reviewed sources was to justify the information obtained using past studies. I also vindicated the research with peer-reviewed sources to check for validity and suitability for publication. I carefully selected peer-reviewed sources to support and validate the purpose of the study.

## **Participants**

According to Hesse et al. (2019), researchers should choose the right participants with qualitative research to derive accurate data. The participants of my research study met the following eligibility criteria: (a) HCMs had experience in implementing EMRS, (b) each HCM currently managed their practice in the U.S East Coast city area, (c) the HCMs had at least 1 year of successful EMRS implementation and utilization, (d) the EMRS was currently being utilized in an operational health care practice.

The participants' characteristics must align with the research question for proper validity and reliability of results (Mills, 2018). As suggested by Mills (2018), I chose HCMs with characteristics aligning with the research question. The purpose of choosing HCMs as participants was to ensure that all supervisors had expertise in EMRS implementation. Therefore, I did not include clinicians as study subjects. I ensured that the criteria for choosing the participants aligned with the research to ensure validity, as suggested by Mills (2018). I derived data from participants who were credible, with demonstrated success in EMRS implementation.

Ngugi et al. (2018) suggested a nonprobability sampling method for researchers to gain access to participants, called the snowball method. As recommended by Ngugi et al. (2018), I used the snowball method of sampling to gain access to facilities and recruit participants who had demonstrated successful EMRS implementation. I also obtained approval from management of the organization in each case before interviewing participants, as suggested by Ngugi et al. (2018). After I gained organizational access and the necessary permissions, I invited prospective participants to be interviewed via face-to-face contact, telephone, or via e-mail.

I built a working relationship with the participants using open and honest communication. I initiated communication with the participants through an open invitation, another strategy recommended by Mills (2018). Then, I requested the participant's contact information to continue communication and ensure comfort prior to the interview. Through a structured plan to start and engage communication, I developed good rapport with my participants to derive appropriate responses during interviews. The

HCMs I interviewed had direct, hands-on experience with the successful implementation of EMRS is their respective organizations.

# Research Method and Design

#### Research Method

Researchers are able to obtain information based on human experiences, and elicit more specific information for a study, using the qualitative research method (Berger, 2015). Qualitative researchers can receive detailed responses from participants, decreasing the possibility of superficial answers based on emotion (Park & Park, 2016). Qualitative researchers explore areas of importance to gain an understanding of an underlying opinion, reason, or motivation (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018).

Alternatively, quantitative researchers generate hypotheses and compare different variables by computing data to generate results (Depaoli et al., 2018). The researcher quantifies data to determine if a hypothesis is supported (Park & Park, 2016). The quantitative method was not appropriate for my research study because I explored the participants' reasons, opinions, and motivations regarding my topic. I needed to understand qualitative study components to gather data based on the participant's experiences. Therefore, I did not choose the quantitative research method for this study because that method involves computational, statistical, and mathematical tools to derive results.

In a quantitative research study there are many designs that can be used, including descriptive, correlational, quasi-experimental and experimental approaches (Park & Park, 2016). Researchers using an qualitative research methodology can obtain responses from

the participants that are more in-depth. A combination of these two methods is referred to as mixed methods.

According to Izgar and Akturk (2018), mixed methods researchers analyze, collect, and interpret data using qualitative techniques and quantitative strategies. Mixed methods researchers can extend the findings if one approach is not enough (Schrauf, 2018). Mixed methodology researchers collect both types of data, which could lead to more complications (Strudsholm et al., 2016). I did not choose mixed methods because I did not intend to use statistical analyses as an additional component to the qualitative approach. Therefore, my choice of the qualitative methodology was the appropriate method to collect data for this research.

I chose to use the qualitative method to investigate the experiences of a group of people in a certain area or field. I used qualitative coding and theming techniques to organize collected data during analysis. Researchers can use focus groups, individual interviews, observations, and analysis of verbal and textual data (Park & Park, 2016).

### Research Design

Multiple case study research designs are unique in that the researcher can investigate a topic for an extended period (Hesse et al., 2019). For multiple case study, the investigator is able to develop an in-depth analysis of specific cases in multiple settings. The analysis of these cases in different settings and using investigative methods is one of the roots of qualitative research (McAlearney et al., 2017). I compared the multiple case study design to three other research designs, which were phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative (Mills, 2018). I chose the case study design to personally

analyze the unique experiences HCMs have with EMRS implementation. In this multiple case study, I reviewed the detailed experiences of subject HCMs who successfully implemented EMRS and then carefully analyzed the data. My goal in using the case study research design was to collect, analyze, and present data fairly and accurately.

A phenomenological design is used to study how people experience a phenomenon (Larkin et al., 2018). Qualitative researchers who use phenomenological designs may try to describe the significance of an individual's lived experiences with a phenomenon (Park & Park, 2016). Therefore, the purpose of a phenomenological study is to set aside preconceptions about a person's lived experience to understand the phenomenon (Mills, 2018). I did not use the phenomenological design because I do not consider EMRS implementation strategies to be a phenomenon, or an extraordinary occurrence.

The ethnography design is a qualitative method where researchers observe and potentially interact with the participant's real-life environment (Palmer et al., 2018). Qualitative researchers using the ethnographic research design are observing societies from the participant's point of view (Kassan et al., 2020). The qualitative researcher using ethnographic design would be studying cultures of people for an extended period (Kassan et al., 2020). I did not need this type of design because my study was not long term and because I did not explore the customs and cultures of my participants.

Lastly, qualitative researchers using the narrative design listen to stories told by participants, record the data, and analyze the information (De Vries, 2018). The narrative design is an inquiry-based method in which the researcher studies the life stories of

individuals (Barabasch, 2018). I did not intend to investigate the series of events that make up the life stories of my participants. I collected data based upon participant experiences with EMRS, which did not include life story narratives. Therefore, after considering each of the possible designs, the multiple case study design was my best option.

I achieved data saturation by ensuring that the participants in the study provided enough information to the point that there was redundancy in responses. Data saturation is achieved when the researcher is not encountering any new information after analysis is completed (Hesse et al., 2019). The researcher can determine the sample size as sufficient for complete data analysis once data saturation has occurred (Lowe et al., 2018).

Researchers can use data saturation as a good sign that data collection was sufficient for the research study (Park & Park, 2016). Therefore, the goal of data saturation is important, as it will lead to a higher quality of research and impact content validity (Lowe et al., 2018).

## **Population and Sampling**

The research population was individual HCMs who had success implementing EMRS in their respective organizations. I used criterion sampling because I could select cases with some predetermined criteria of importance (Mills, 2018). As the researcher, I relied on my judgment when choosing contributors. The participants had to have experience with strategizing how to successfully implement EMRS and promoting adoption to the staff who were experienced with health care provision. I used the point of data saturation to determine the number of participants because I could then indicate

when there was sufficient data for the analysis of my study. At that point of data saturation, the need to interview additional subjects was no longer required.

I use a step-by-step procedure to identify participants and conduct interviews my research study. I used the snowball sampling method to identify subjects in health care facilities and recruit participants who had demonstrated successful EMRS implementation. As suggested by Ngugi et al. (2018), the purpose of choosing the snowball sampling method was to reach populations that were difficult to sample compared to other methods. The researcher can also use the snowball sampling method to discover populations that are difficult to reach (Ngugi et. al, 2018). Then, I conducted a face-to-face meeting or telephone call so that I could understand the participant's credentials, where I determined whether they should participate in the interview using a telephone script. Following that determination, I then gave each participant the consent form and confidentiality agreement to understand the interview requirements.

The next step was to interview the participants in a quiet environment where I could conduct the interview with little to no interruptions. Qualitative researchers should understand the importance of developing a healthy environment that encourages interviewees to share insightful data and to ensure ethical standards in research are followed (Hershberger & Kavanaugh, 2017). I conducted interviews and asked questions to obtain information from participants regarding their successes in EMRS implementation. My interview questions were based on EMRS experiences and perceptions on the current climate of health care provision. The interviews were at least 45-60 minutes long where the participants were expected to provide clear and accurate

responses. Therefore, it was imperative that I ensured that study subjects were comfortable so that I could facilitate good dialogue to achieve data saturation.

#### **Ethical Research**

I used research ethics to govern the standards of conduct for my study. I distributed an IRB informed consent form to all participants involved in the study. In the consent form there was a description of the purpose of the study, instructions the participants had to follow, and the risk/benefits of participation. The IRB consent form also included instructions regarding participants' compensation, rights to confidentiality, and their right to volunteer or withdraw from the interview process, as suggested by Mills et al. (2018).

I provided instructions in the consent form on how the participants could withdraw from the study at any point and without giving advance notice. I adhered to the Walden University and IRB ethical guidelines at all times during the research study process by ensuring that each participant knew the purpose of the study and had provided me a signed informed consent form before proceeding. I did not compensate the HCMs who participated in my study. After the interview process, I sent a letter expressing gratitude and appreciation for their participation in the study, as well.

Researchers must ensure that privacy is always maintained during the research process to protect the participant (Ingham-Broomfield, 2017). I ensured that the information shared remained private and was not disclosed to any outside party. My responsibility was to maintain confidentiality by never attaching participants' names or organizations to their responses; numerical aliases were used instead to differentiate

between participants. I ensured confidentiality by storing the participant information securely on an Apple cloud storage device. I informed the HCMs that I would not disclose their names or places of work in the study report, as suggested by (Ingham-Broomfield, 2017). Lastly, I planned to keep all the information collected in a secure place for 5 years to ensure confidentiality of the contributors involved in the study and adherence to information storage guidelines. The final doctoral manuscript includes the Walden IRB approval number (01-21-20-0490264).

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

The primary data collection instrument was me, by retrieving the participants' responses, using the 10 open-ended questions and follow-up questions to gather the information (see Appendix: Interview Protocol). I elicited information from the HCMs regarding EMRS implementation strategies using the interview protocol as a secondary data collection instrument for my qualitative research method and case study design. I used the semistructured interview style to engage the participants to talk about new ideas and strategies that could be relevant to solving the business problem, as suggested by Aspers and Corte (2019). I first developed a rapport with the participants that increased comfort during the interview process, which was important to elicit rich and robust data. Then, in a relaxed and quiet environment, I asked the participants the interview questions cultivating good communication (see Appendix: Interview Protocol).

I performed member checking after the interview process and at the conclusion of the research study. Researchers use member checking to validate the accuracy and correct understanding of the collective data (Gudkova, 2017). After the interview, I restated the information and then questioned the participant to determine the accuracy of the information provided. The participants were then asked to confirm if the data was collected accurately, reflecting their views and feelings regarding the research topic. During member checking, if the information I gathered did not correctly reflect the participant's views, then the data would have lacked accuracy, as stated by Aspers and Corte (2019), thus, when necessary, I requested that the participant further clarify their responses to the questions. If the information did not accurately reflect the participant's views, then the data would have lacked credibility, as mentioned by Aspers and Corte (2019), thus I requested that the participant further clarify his or her responses to the questions asked, when necessary. The confirmation process was to ensure that the data was clear and accurate. Through member confirmation, I was able to double-check that the information collected was correct and would be accurately transcribed.

I performed a transcript review to enhance the reliability and validity of data collection for my research study. I reviewed the data transcripts to code and search for themes that supported the use of successful strategies for EMRS implementation. After reviewing all the transcriptions, I generated the results needed to understand the business problem.

# **Data Collection Technique**

I collected primary data using the semistructured interview technique. I also collected corporate documents and wrote notes as supplementary data collection. I conducted in-depth interviews face-to-face, over the telephone, or with online video call using a voice recorder and note-taking. I played back the voice recordings of the

interviews, and transcribed the information gathered. Gudkova (2017) elaborated on data transcription as a necessary method to analyze all information communicated between participants for proper analysis. The step-by-step process for the data collection included (a) re-introducing myself before starting the interview, (b) discussing the interview topic, (c) explaining the interview process, (d) posing each question, (e) allowing time between each question posed for a response, and (d) providing a summary and closing statement.

As recommended by researchers Lowe et al. (2018), I used voice recording so that I could keep track of all verbal communication in the interview process. The corporate documents and note-taking were supplementary to the voice recording (Lowe et al., 2018). The researcher can use the combination of all three techniques to analyze the information thoroughly and ensure that data saturation can be obtained (Mills, 2018).

I chose to record participants' responses while using note-taking techniques. The interviewer will need to be vigilant when writing notes because the process can hinder communication with the interviewee (Aspers & Corte, 2019), which can present a problem when attempting to gather information as accurately as possible. For example, the interviewee might have been more comfortable with more eye contact during the interview, which can be impeded when note-taking is involved in the process. I preferred to use a recording device as a way to refer back to the interviews at a later date to ensure that the information given by the HCMs was reported accurately.

## **Data Organization Technique**

I secured all data using an Apple cloud storage system. Cloud computing has been beneficial for users to utilize network services globally due to high storage capabilities,

security, and cost effectiveness (Lele, 2019). In addition to cloud computing, I used reference manager software to store my research logs and references. Researchers can use reference managers to keep track of and organize references from journals and other articles (Fairclough & Thelwall, 2015). I could also save and store portable document format (pdf) files onto the reference manager software program for immediate access. Lastly, I used a data transcription software tool called NVivo to supplement my transcription of the data via voice recording devices. I intend to maintain the raw data in a locked storage hardware device for 5 years.

I used my laptop and cloud-based server to save and store all of my research literature and data. Qualitative researchers can benefit from storing relevant research articles to support the findings of their study (Arora, 2017). The research data was conveniently accessed using these tools to help me illustrate the findings of my study.

#### **Data Analysis**

The data analysis process of a qualitative research case study is the use of triangulation (Abdalla et al., 2018). There are four types of triangulation which are (a) methodological triangulation, (b) theory triangulation, (c) investigator triangulation, and (d) data source triangulation (Abdalla et al., 2018). I chose one of the two types of methodological triangulation which was the within-method, and between-method forms of methodological triangulation (Lowe et al., 2018). The between method is when a researcher uses both qualitative and quantitative methods to collect and analyze data (Lowe et al., 2018). However, I only used a qualitative approach for triangulation.

Therefore, I used a within-method of triangulation and my two sources of data collection were subject interviews and corporate documents.

I performed a sequential process for data analysis after performing methodological triangulation for my research study. As suggested by Renz et al. (2018), I used the deductive approach by analyzing the data using five steps which were (a) data transcription, (b) data organization, (c) data coding, (d) data validation, and (e) data conclusion. I performed data transcription, where unstructured data is gathered in textual form. I then used the NVivo software to analyze data collected from the interview protocol. Next, I conducted data organization, where I grouped the information transcribed based on objectives using the responses gathered from the participants. Subsequently, I performed data coding, where data is categorized based on different concepts or patterns. Then, I used codes to build themes and understand the meaning of the data by assigning categories to similar response-types and grouping the information together. Afterword, I completed data validation, to ensure that the information analyzed and gathered is not flawed. Lastly, I implemented my data conclusion where the findings were illustrated based on the correlations between the data analyzed and the research question.

The qualitative software analysis method was used to critically analyze the data in a graphical portrayal of categorized and coded concepts using NVivo. I then questioned the meaning of recurring concepts, ideas gathered from the codes, and any themes identified. As suggested by Abdalla et al. (2018), qualitative researchers must find the best methods to compress data and categorize all of the information into themes. Next, I

organized the information and compiled a database where I categorized each theme into groups. Lastly, I compared the findings with previous research to justify the study findings.

To summarize the data analysis steps, I identified the key themes and correlated each one with the conceptual framework of this research study, which is Fayolism. As suggested by Goertzen (2017), qualitative researchers focus on the themes gathered from the coding process and correlates the information found with the literature. I correlated each theme found in the data analysis with the five main functions of business management, and the 14 principles of management according to Fayol (1916). As mentioned in the literature review, the five functions of management, according to Fayol (1916), are planning, organizing, commanding, coordinating, and control. The 14 principles of management according to Fayol (1916) are division of work, authority and responsibility, discipline, unity of command, unity of direction, subordination of individual interest, remuneration, centralization, scalar chain, order, equity, stability, initiative, and esprit de corp. Successively, I found each theme in the result findings that correlated with each management function, principle of management, and other research from the literature review.

# Reliability and Validity

I addressed dependability by assessing the quality of integrated processes with data collection and analysis. Dependability is important because the researcher can establish that the study findings are consistent and repeatable (Bansal et al., 2018). Moser and Korstjens (2017) stated that researchers can use member checking to enhance the

accuracy, validity, and credibility of a research study, which is why I chose the procedure. According to Lowe et al. (2018), researchers can perform member checking during the interview process to determine the veracity and completeness of each participant's responses. Therefore, I was able to confirm that the participants verified that I understood their comments and I recorded them accurately using member checking.

Qualitative researchers can improve credibility by using triangulation (Morse, 2015). Therefore, my goal was to use triangulation to link the results of this study with real-life experiences to ensure credibility. The qualitative researcher can improve credibility and dependability by following the interview protocol, and member checking (Abdalla et al., 2018). I gave the participants an opportunity to review the questions posed along with their responses. After I generated the transcript, I performed a data analysis via transcription review to detect any inaccuracies. Qualitative researcher should utilize data collection tools correctly to obtain the most accurate results (Aspers & Corte, 2019).

A researcher's study results that can be generalized to other contexts or settings is called transferability (Abdalla et al., 2018). The researcher should be able to demonstrate how the results of the study can be transferred from one location to another (Bansal et al., 2018). I described the environment where I conducted the interviews to facilitate understanding among other investigators who may prospectively want to expand or duplicate my research results. Future researchers can evaluate the need to transfer the results of the study to a different setting, which would demonstrate transferability (Aspers

& Corte, 2019). Therefore, I explained the consistency with my data results throughout my study to relay reliability and validity.

A researcher's study results that can be confirmed by other investigators is called confirmability (Arora, 2017). Confirmability means that the result findings are formed primarily by the participants, instead of the researcher (Mills, 2018). I developed confirmability by performing an audit trail where I explained the process of data collection, interpretation, and data analysis. Researchers attempt to validate their results by documenting the procedures and checking the data throughout the study to validate the outcomes (Bansal et al., 2018). In the same way, I addressed the confirmability of the research study by documenting how the results were generated.

I ensured data saturation by using multiple techniques for data collection and analysis. First, I used voice recording to collect all data obtained from the interview process. Second, I used follow-up questions and elicited responses to help provide detailed information regarding the EMRS implementation process. Third, I chose only participants who fit the predetermined qualifications and could competently contribute to the study. Arora (2017) recommended that data saturation can be achieved by using sensible sampling, a good research design, and well-structured research tools, which was the plan for my research study.

# **Transition and Summary**

I described the processes necessary for data collection in section 2. In Sections 1 and 2, I included the participants involved, the research method/design, population, data collection, and reliability/validity processes. In Section 2, I elaborated on the ethical

standards I followed to support the integrity of my study. I illustrated the results of my research study in section 3 and also elaborated on how my research findings apply to business practice.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies HCMs used to successfully implement EMRS in their outpatient health care facilities. I derived the data from interviewing six HCMs and reviewing their organizations' related documentation. I was able to show methods that the HCMs used to successfully implement EMRS in their outpatient health care facilities from the result findings.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

The research question I posed for this qualitative multiple case study was: What strategies do some health care managers in outpatient clinics use to successfully implement EMRS in their organizations? The HCMs that were interviewed were from six rehabilitation facilities in a U.S East Coast city area, where EMRS was successfully implemented in their clinical departments. I identified five themes that were common among the six HCMs. I considered key data as themes if they were part of the findings in at least three of the HCM interviews. I protected the identity of the participants by assigning them these identifiers: HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 to ensure confidentiality. I discovered the themes based on the codes that I placed on certain responses. Then, I categorized each particular group of codes. I explained how the key themes found in the research study correlates with Fayol's five functions of management which are planning, coordinating, organizing, commanding, and control. I also elaborated on the findings that matched Fayol's 14 principles of management which are division of work, authority and responsibility, discipline, unity of command, unity of direction,

subordination of individual interest, remuneration, centralization, scalar chain, order, equity, stability, initiative, and esprit de corps.

#### **Theme 1: Effective Internal Communication**

In the academic literature review, Furusa and Coleman (2018) suggested that communication is an internal factor that that HCMs using during EMRS implementation. According to a study by Lee and Queenie (2020), employees and managers using internal communication improved relationships in health care. Fayol mentioned that managers and employees can improve the possibility that goals are accomplished by planning and coordinating functions through communication (Mijin et al., 2019). In Theme 1, HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 realized the benefits of employing coordination and planning management functions, by collaborating with their staff using communication skills.

 Table 1

 Effective Internal Communication

Internal Communication	N	% frequency of occurrence
Team Meetings	25	45.45%
Staff Training	18	32.72%
One-to-One interaction	12	21.81%

## **Team Meetings**

I collected data from HCM1, HCM2, and HCM5 and they discovered that team meetings were essential in helping to improve EMRS implementation. According to Smart et al. (2018), managers can use team meetings to coordinate with staff and understand different viewpoints to focus on an agenda. HCM2 stated:

So, you have to strategically plan out the meetings and prioritize what's more important to train them in, so eventually everyone will make adjustments to the change. I always open the floor for questions, concerns and also what can I do to make things work a little better.

According to Aghdam et al. (2019), managers can use multidisciplinary team meetings (MDT) to improve collaboration and planning of functions when compared to other traditional methods. Aghdam et al. (2019) reported that managers also used MDT to improve medical competence with treatment. HCM1, HCM2, and HCM5 mentioned that team meetings were important to their EMRS implementation and elaborated on the approach. HCM2 stated:

...and in addition to the meeting, addressing certain things as they come up.

Anything that's updated, I have to update them on it as well because sometimes they change certain ways of doing things or they offer certain features, and when that comes up, I'll bring it up to them. One thing I have to say as a business owner, I take responsibility if something is not understood. So I have to find a different approach to make it make it register.

In my research study, HCM1, HCM2, and HCM5 mentioned that team meetings would have to be frequent in the beginning of EMRS implementation so they could ensure that staff were able to comprehend the tools needed for proper documentation. The HCMs explained that scheduling the team meetings according to staffing availability was also important due to the busy work schedule. Therefore, consistent with the findings of Aghdam et al. (2019), the team meetings were an important tool to improve planning among members of the organization. According to Sauder et al. (2020), a team meeting is a form of active learning that can be used to enhance content learning and improve skill development. Sauder et al. (2020) illustrated that team meetings involve problem-based learning, where personnel can discuss real-world issues and individuals are required to have open-minded dialogue to reach goals (Sauder et al., 2020). As mentioned by van Dongen et al. (2017), managers can use interprofessional team meetings to help with planning for future needs of an organization by sharing information for organizational needs.

#### HCM 5 stated:

We usually would have either a quarterly, or a monthly meeting in the office, where we plan our agenda for documenting with WebPT. Just talking about how we're billing, how we're using WebPT, how our office is running. Again, everything you need for your office is basically run through the EMR, not just so much documentation for patients, but also visits you're seeing per month, that you're seeing per week, emails you're seeing.

According to Eliyana et al. (2019), managers can perform organizational planning to improve job satisfaction and employee performance. HCM2 mentioned:

Well, during staff meetings, I plan weekly staff meetings and I always go over old topics. All things that we discussed regarding EMR or other issues, any issues that was put fourth, concerns and also what can I do to make things work a little better. As a team we would continue to talk about our plans for improving documentation so that we don't have any delays with billing and to improve communication with other parties involved in the child's treatment.

# Staff Training

The next subtheme I discovered for Theme 1 was staff training. HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 stated that they used staff training to help employees understand the protocols needed to document and bill for rehabilitation services using the EMRS. The manager can decide which methods can be deployed to enhance staff training. Fayol (1916) emphasized that manager coordination with staff involves determining the timing and sequencing of activities so that there is cohesion within the organization.

Waqanimaravu and Arasanmi (2020) mentioned in their study that employee perception of the work environment can be positively altered through training. HCMs can use staff training in a variety of sectors to improve service quality (Waqanimaravu & Arasanmi, 2020). According to Martins et al. (2019) managers can use online training to help staff carry over job skills because content is accessible at any time. HCM5 mentioned that online training was convenient because employees could access learning tools for the EMRS on their spare time. HCM5 stated the following, "Again, every web-

based program has to have a training program. WebPT has multiple trainings for you to go through, that are all on their actual computer systems, that take you through how to navigate the systems."

The manager looks at multiple aspects of training, including how the employees will feel about the training and systems. According to a study by Brabson et al. (2019), staff training resulted in lower annual turnover rates for clinicians, supervisors, and administrators. Managers using staff training may decrease employee turnover rates because the teaching methods associated with this tool limit ambiguity (Brabson et al., 2019). HCM3 stated the following:

It definitely took some time to complete. There was a lot of training and coordination amongst staff. We had to basically take all of our current caseload and implement them one by one into the system and then update as you go along. But it was definitely a long process trying to get everybody into the system correctly and which also turned into like a big kind of a problem at first, too, because things were not being implemented correctly. However, once everyone became comfortable through practice and repetition, the process was more seamless.

#### One-on-One Interaction

In relation with coordination, HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 mentioned that using one-on-one interactions improved the staff usage with EMRS. The HCMs stated that there were times certain staff members did not comply or understand the protocols with the EMRS during staff trainings and team meetings, and thus a one-on-

one interaction was required. Behrens and Kret (2019) found that employees tend to be more cooperative with one-on-one interaction for reliable feedback compared to non-one-on-one interaction communication. HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 found that one-on-one interactions were helpful in remedying any remaining issues that were not resolved with the previous strategies implemented in the staff training and the team meetings, which justifies coordination being important to ensure that objectives are achieved in an efficient manner. According to Eliyana et al. (2019), HCMs using one-on-one interactions can help resolve more difficult problems that require personal or intimate dialogue. HCM5 stated the following:

There were moments where an employee would request a private conversation with me to further discuss matters about our system. During the conversations, he would tell me his concerns cause he did not feel comfortable bringing up questions during staff meetings. I guess because he did not want to look incompetent in front of his colleagues.

HCM1 mentioned that he would have to request personal one-on-one interactions with any staff member who did not follow directions during team meetings. HCM1 stated the following:

There were certain times during the process where I would have to have a personal conversation with staff members who refused to cooperate with documentation rules. Sometimes I would find employees copying and pasting notes when they document, which is not good. However, I have yet to enforce any disciplinary action. Thankfully.

# **Theme 2: Overcoming Barriers**

One of Fayol's five functions of management included control, which is checking the overall process against organization plans and taking corrective actions when necessary (Fayol, 1916). Ngugi et al. (2018) found that HCMs must take remedial actions when problems occurred during the EMRS implementation process. Therefore, I discovered the theme overcoming barriers during data analysis. Specifically, I observed that HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, HCM6 used control as a management function during the EMRS implementation process when three problems occurred, which were, technology challenges, resistance from staff, and abrupt interruptions. According to Yusof and Sahroni (2018), although health information systems (HIS) errors are common and inevitable, the problem can be managed, once identified. HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, HCM6 in my research study encountered issues during EMRS implementation that required them to adjust their plans and take corrective action to improve user efficiency and billing to insurance payers.

**Table 2**Overcoming Barriers

Overcoming Barriers	N	% frequency of occurrence
Overcoming Technological Challenges	17	44.73%
Overcoming Resistance	12	31.57%
Overcoming Abrupt Interruptions	9	23.68%

## Overcoming Technological Challenges

HCM1, HCM3, HCM4, and HCM6 found that common issues happened with technological errors such as data entry, retrieval, and transferring of information (Yusof & Sahroni, 2018). Managers transferring information from an older documentation system to a new system can cause issues within a business (Yusof & Sahroni, 2018). HCM1 elaborated on this concept by explaining:

In order to have everybody, the active patients set up in the new system,... you had to manually bring over some of the notes that were in the old system. This was a time consuming process that had to be completed to help our staff document notes to the right client.

HCM1, HCM3, HCM4, and HCM6 mentioned the task of taking corrective action by modifying templates to match their health care organizational needs. System design based on standards and processes is important to prevent errors (Barrett & Stephens, 2017). HCM1, HCM3, HCM4, and HCM6 mentioned ensuring data within the EMRS templates was computable so that information was transferrable to the proper channels. According to Allen-Graham et al. (2018), managers may use system testing with hardware/software, network, and applications to understand the full scope of the organization's needs to prevent errors from occurring. Similarly, to prevent future medical errors, HCM1, HCM3, HCM4, and HCM6 in my study tested software in EMRS templates to ensure that data was transmitted properly.

HCM4 stated the following:

There are some templates that are geared towards OT too but for the most part, are very physical therapy (PT) and occupational therapy (OT) driven. So sometimes you're having to modify templates to make it more speech driven or sometimes just having to modify it just to your professional clinical styles and preferences. So that's a barrier in strategizing how and when you want to implement stuff with the electronic documentation system.

# Overcoming Resistance

The second subtheme I identified was adapting to resistance. HCM1, HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 mentioned that staff would complain about performing extra duties on their own to facilitate successful EMRS implementation because they had no time to complete tasks during the work schedule. According to Bertagnolli et al. (2020), managers may expect to encounter a steep learning curve when educating and correcting employees to where some may take time to adjust to EMRS implementation. HCM4 stated the following:

Yeah. There was some difficulty because they were used to taking notes first and then going in, sitting down and writing the report. There was some transition in them stopping with the hand written techniques and switching to entering information on the iPad or computer on wheels. So that took a little time with transitioning. I would say maybe about a month.

HCM1, HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 discussed how there would be resistance towards performing duties and that their main solution to control the problem would be to provide more time to staff to adjust with the EMRS. HCM1, HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6

used training, one-on-one interaction with employees, and EMRS demonstrations, which factored into increasing usage time with the EMRS and, therefore, improved the transition process. According to Brabson et al. (2019), managers should take responsibility in ensuring employees understand the EMRS. According to HCM2:

As a business owner, I take responsibility if something is not understood. So I have to find a different approach to make it register. I have to ask does everyone have their own way of learning? So I have to figure out, OK, what's the better way to make this person understand? If it means OK, probably that person needs all the help from technical support and maybe I need to schedule a tutorial with them directly.

Fayol (1916) mentioned in one of his 14 principles, centralization, where authority is dispersed throughout an enterprise. Fayol (1916) further elaborated that an employee's individual circumstances determine the degree to which authority is accepted. HCM6 mentioned that staff would have difficulty with certain areas of the EMRS which would lead to negative results, such as poorly written notes.

HCM1, HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 mentioned that sit down conversations, increased time with note writing, and the reiteration of goals that needed to be accomplished were positive strategies to overcome employee resistance. HCM1, HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 used the strategies to ensure that employees had time to take ownership of the work that needed to be completed, which is what Fayol emphasized with centralization. HCM6 using centralization, which according to Fayol (1916) emphasized that leaders reiterate to the employee the organizational goals, therefore,

allowing the staff member to take authority with decision making for EMRS documentation. According to HCM6:

I would allow my staff to understand to protocols with our documentation system. As they would get comfortable with the new system I would allow them to take on the responsibility of getting each note completed in a timely manner. I would make sure they understood the importance of progress notes and evaluations being submitted properly before I gave them the obligation.

According to Weaver et al. (2020), managers of health care facilities should have control over issues that may arise with EMRS implementation such as lack of computer literacy, and decreased familiarity with EMRS tools. Fayol (1916) also elaborated on managerial issues, mentioning that managers have to evaluate and ensure staff follow through with commands or else the organization's longevity will be negatively impacted. HCM2 mentioned that he needed to constantly reiterate to personnel to sign their name after a therapy service document or else the organization will not get reimbursed. HCM2 noted, "The communication is something that I always have to present in meeting; reminders of, you know, putting your initials after a note so someone will know who wrote the note."

#### **Overcoming Abrupt Interruptions**

HCM1, HCM5, and HCM6 had to overcome abrupt interruptions with EMRS implementation such as internet and system failure. HCM1, HCM5, and HCM6 mentioned that whenever unanticipated disruptions occurred, there had to be a plan of action so that productivity was not stalled. HCM5 mentioned that he would have the staff

use flow sheets when EMRS was down and when the systems was running again, the staff would transfer the notes back into the electronic system. HCM1, HCM5, and HCM6 also mentioned internet failure as a common problem with the EMRS to where physical storage files would be made to save the note until the internet reconnected. As mentioned by Furusa et al. (2018), managers can most likely anticipate abrupt interruptions with EMRS, so there must be a plan of action to prepare for such events. According to HCM5:

That's the risk you take now with EMR, is that you're dependent on resources to make sure your systems work well. If they don't, there has to be a back-up plan to make sure that, if it does go down, for whatever reason, we have a backup plan to make sure that we always know who's coming in, what they're being treated for, and what to do. That's why we have these flow sheets with the patient's name, because at least the flow sheet will let us know they're here for, based on diagnosis, based on the MD they're seeing, based on their insurance, based on the body part they're treating, and what their program is. Once the server comes back up, we can always check it and make sure we document their notes appropriately. But, you have to have some system in place to use the EMR, but also just be prepared for a situation with the EMR not to be accessible.

Vos et al. (2020) mentioned that system failure is almost inevitable during EMRS implementation, therefore, it is the manager's responsibility to adjust to future problems. HCM1 stated the following:

During my time with this new system, I think we had two occurrences where it went down. I would have everyone write their notes onto a secondary system that

saves everything onto a hard drive and once the our primary system is back on we would transfer everything over.

Thus, my result findings for subtheme "overcoming interruptions" show that HCM1, HCM5, and HCM6 had a secondary plan if the EMRS abruptly failed which helped to maintain work flow. Therefore, secondary options to adjust to abrupt EMRS interruption may help with future implementation.

## **Theme 3: Effective Time Management**

HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 had to designate time for staff training and managerial optimization of the EMRS according to the organization's needs. Fayol's five functions of management include planning, meaning that managers must strategize and arrange every essential part of their business to maintain stability, which takes time and dedication (Fayol, 1916). Fayol (1916) emphasized that managers must plan to strategize and execute their objectives in a timely manner. According to Guo et al. (2017), health care providers benefited from increased time to utilize and understand new EMRS for increased documentation efficiency.

 Table 3

 Effective Time Management

N	% frequency of occurrence
19	46.34%
22	53.65%
	19

# HCMs Designating Time To Staff For Training

Fayol's 14 principles of management include initiative, which means that managers ensure employees are given a certain amount of freedom to carry out the organizational plan (Fayol, 1916). HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 mentioned that they gave their employees the proper amount of time to understand the EMRS system. According to Hashim and Khan (2018), managers should know an employee's needs with regards to coaching EMRS usage. However, due to the high productivity demands, sometimes EMRS training would not be enough to get employees acclimated to the technology. The common course of action by the managers was to allow the staff to take any additional time, as needed, to complete documentation.

According to Fish and Guha (2020), timely planning for EMRS implementation is essential for a successful health care practice because it can improve patient outcomes due to efficient transference of information. HCM2 stated the following regarding designated time given for EMRS training:

I would say roughly 4 to 6 months. So, if they're not here every day it's not like a repetitive thing every day that they're having exposure to. But if they're not here every day, then there's a gap in between and sometimes they might forget certain things.

According to Fayol, when managers use strategies such as planning for tasks and future problems in a timely manner, businesses have positive outcomes (Fayol, 1916).

Managers who use sufficient planning can ensure proper EMRS deployment (Fish & Guha, 2020). HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5 and HCM6 often spoke about staff

EMRS training time being difficult to distribute due to high productivity needs, however the training time was successful.

#### HCM4 stated:

In the beginning I implemented documentation time within their day so they could adjust to the new documentation system. And then after about a month or so then I was able to take it away and they were able to document within the session time without the extra time set aside for documentation.

## HCMs Using Time to Modify and Improve EMRS

In the second subtheme, HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 used their time to modify and improve EMRS. As I continued to analyze the data, I saw a pattern in responses where the participants stated they had to constantly adjust the tools that were originally in the EMRS, specifically, the templates. According to Lambooij et al. (2017), managers may benefit from adjusting EMRS tools to improve employee satisfaction and organizational productivity. HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 mentioned their purpose for adjusting the templates was to ensure that the EMRS had data collection tools that coincided with the disciplines of their professional staff. HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, and HCM6 also mentioned they had to adjust the tools in the EMRS for billing needs so that the organization would receive reimbursement from insurance companies. HCM2 illustrated the need to adjust EMRS tools changes by saying:

Well, I think as an administrator, the change is hard also because you got comfortable with the system, your time is an issue and you have to relearn it. Re-

learn something new and teach it to your staff. And I think the strategy [or myself would be to learn it in sections; use better time management to learn the system versus rushing it. Because I noticed when I rush through it, I missed certain things that could have helped me save money. Like, for example, what I'm thinking of doing now in terms of having everything in one where, people can pay for it. I wish [I got] it from the beginning, but because I thought I was saving by still having a separate credit card system where people can pay, I didn't. But in the end, it probably wasn't time efficient because you still have to try to keep track of who paid, who owes. If I use the system that's already in EMR, I can get a spreadsheet monthly to see all that information. So, I waste a lot of money by wasting of time. So, the strategy is to learn everything from top to bottom before making a conscious decision. OK, what part of the EMRS am I going to use or pay for? So, in other words, learn it first. That's a good strategy as the owner in the clinic.

According to Fish and Guha (2020), HCM planning for future problems ahead of time helps to improve EMRS implementation. Fayol (1916) also concluded that it is important for leaders to examine the future of a business and execute a plan of action. HCM1, HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5 and HCM6 had to be prepared for when EMRS modifications were necessary. According to Rechtman et al. (2019) insurance company personnel require HCMs to have billing codes in their EMRS and for staff to document correctly for proper reimbursement. HCM3 stated:

The time needed to change certain things in our system can vary. I remember having to update certain billing codes in the system because we were getting patients for occupational therapy that we were not familiar with in our setting. If those billing codes are not up to date in our documentation system, than we can possibly lose a lot of money, which is bad for our clinic.

Rittenhouse et al. (2017) mentioned that HCMs should dedicate time to improve EMRS tools so that information is efficiently transferred to the proper channels for reimbursement. According to HCM5:

I would spend many hours just reviewing my staff's notes. I would not only give them feedback to correct their notes but I would also try to improve WebPT using the common trends I would find with errors. I believe that if there is a common problem with documentation than it is probably something that we can do to improve the system.

#### **Theme 4: Compensation Improved Productivity**

HCM1, HCM2, HCM5, HCM6 realized that compensation was a key factor in improving finances, and documentation. Fayol (1916) stated that one of his 14 principles of management was remuneration, which is important to motivate employees.

Remuneration is the compensation for received services or employment (Fayol, 1916).

According to Shrank et al. (2019), if HCMs provided appropriate reimbursement to health care providers, wasteful health care spending would be decreased. HCM1, HCM2, HCM5, HCM6 saw an increase in employee satisfaction through remuneration, which improved productivity. HCM1, HCM2, HCM5, HCM6 mentioned that their staff

provided quality information in EMRS for insurances to properly reimburse due to proper compensation of monetary and non-monetary benefits. According to Sushil and Raziuddin (2018), managers reducing errors in EMRS is beneficial because this improves insurance reimbursements and financial profits. Fayol (1916) elaborated on remuneration stating that employees determine their future roles with an organization based on monetary or non-monetary incentives.

Table 4

Compensation Improved Productivity

Improvements	N	% frequency of occurrence
Financial Benefits	8	42.10%
Compensation Improving	11	57.89%
Documentation		

#### Financial Benefits

HCM2 and HCM6 were able to see improved results with the EMRS regarding increased profits because of better compensation to staff. As stated by Fayol (1916) in my conceptual framework, Fayolism, remuneration is a beneficial factor because employees can be motivated to improve productivity. According to James et al. (2017), managers should follow EMRS guidelines to ensure that all stakeholders in the organization are compensated.

#### HCM6 stated:

When it comes to insurance policies, and transfer of application, authorization, and all these things that help pay for every service. They have to know above and beyond EMR, what they're doing. A lot of that is taught from other managers who navigated these systems, and there are trainings that are specific for every single system. So, in order for our organization to increase revenue, we must train and compensate our employees accordingly so that they are motivated to provided quality care and produce results.

According to Mitra et al. (2020), managers can positively influence employee gratification using compensation satisfaction, which lowers the risk of high turnover rates. Leaders in organizations typically ignore proper compensation to employees because of the financial risk involved, without looking at the positive effects payments can have on employee satisfaction (Mitra et al., 2020). HCM2 and HCM6 did mention that increasing compensation to employees was not easy to initiate during the startup phase of business, and EMRS implementation. However, once HCM2 and HCM6 regulated finances, and improved budgets, increased employee compensation was feasible, resulting in better productivity.

#### HCM2 stated the following:

I was losing a lot whether it was parents not paying copayments. There was no documentation of missed copayments or notifications of notes that were needed in order to continue authorization. So once my office manager focused on that, created the system in the EMRS where notifications would be sent out or

templates will be created to make it easier for the staff. I was able to gain copayments from the parents and it improved organization of the information.

Eventually, I was able to pay my staff more money and things got better.

## Compensation Improving Documentation

HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 elaborated on improving the quality of documentation by increasing compensation to employees. As mentioned by Jindal & Raziuddin (2018), employees are only motivated by their level of needs and the manager should compensate benefits fairly. HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 explained that when they were able to compensate their employees by the hour instead of fee-for-service, they noticed better quality documentation. According to HCM4:

In the beginning I implemented documentation time within their day so they could adjust to the new documentation system. And then after about a month or so then I was able to take it away and they were able to document after the session time. I realized that giving my staff the time needed to document during paid time helped improve the quality in notes and insurance reimbursement.

Tung (2018) mentioned that employees are motivated to work hard with a view on enhancing productivity with effective compensation, which is a focus on Fayolism (remuneration). Also, the employer can improve their relationship with the employee with proper remuneration, thereby, improving productivity and finances long-term (Tung, 2018). On the other hand, a study by Samson et al. (2019) found that ineffective employee compensation and lack of continuous improvement culture were one of the significant factors negatively effecting service quality. HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 in my

research study noted that when they provided non-monetary compensation such as teaching tools, quality of documentation increased.

#### HCM5 stated:

I think again, the best way we helped our staff was for us to have in-house training, and focus trainings that are off site, where people can get a chance to ask questions outside of the regular nine-to-five hour. I think it's hard to learn everything during the regular work hours.

## **Theme 5: Efficient Data Organization**

The fifth theme that I discovered in my research study was efficient data organization. HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, HCM6 mentioned their needs to have valuable resources, such as personal information and financial data in proper order when using the EMRS. According to Fayol (1916), order is the tenth principle of management where he specifies that managers should arrange material things and workers in the organization to improve business performance. Fayol implied that resources should be structured and arranged so that the organization can function properly for success (Edwards, 2018). According to Cocosila and Archer (2017), data organization is an important benefit for managers during EMRS implementation compared the traditional paper documentation. HCM2, HCM3, HCM4, HCM5, HCM6 indicated that organizing both resources were crucial for billing purposes so that insurances can justify reimbursement.

Table 5

Effective Data Organization

Organization	N	% frequency of occurrence
Organization of Personal Data	13	43.33%
Data Organization With Finances	17	56.66%

# Data Organization With Finances

HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 mentioned the organization of billing codes, which are financial data, are important for insurance reimbursement. The ICD-10 code is a seven-character, alphanumeric code, that classifies injuries and diseases. According to Flasher and Lamboy-Ruiz (2019), health care providers use billing codes to charge insurance companies for specific services. HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 spoke about the importance of inputting these codes into the EMRS so that their health care providers could write notes illustrating treatment provided with accuracy. HCM2 stated the following:

Billing codes help us receive reimbursement which is why I am constantly updating the system to ensure we are able to document services. I am fortunate to have a reliable system that organizes this information. The paper charts that we had before were not as organized and we lost lots of money due to mismanagement of files.

Fayolism mentioned the importance of organizing resources to improve business function (Fayol, 1916). HCMs can determine the value of an EMRS by looking at the

technology tools in organizing data for facility operations, finances, and transference of patient records (Rechtman et al., 2019). For insurance payment justification, HCM2, HCM4, and HCM6 discussed how EMRS was important to organizing data, such as authorizations, alerts to indicate insurance caps for reimbursement of services, and calculations according to treatment days.

# HCM4 stated the following:

WebPT is a great documentation system because it helps us with organizing all of our treatment session dates and times, it alerts us automatically when we have missed assessment notes, and tells us when we have maxed out our ability to treat patients based on insurance caps. All of this information helps us to receive reimbursement on time. If we don't have this information organized and given to us in a timely manner it can affect our business.

According to Rechtman et al., (2019), managers used technological attributes from the EMRS to organize financial data, which improved insurance reimbursement. As mentioned by Furusa and Coleman (2018), managers not having all of the proper financial data in place for insurance companies can cause hardships within the health care organization. HCM6 stated:

There was a time where we lost thousands of dollars in a span of two weeks because we did a poor job in keeping all of our records filed in our system. This is why we go through so many meetings to ensure that our management team keeps track of billing information and that there are no loopholes within our system.

Therefore, the study results for the subtheme, data organization with finances, correlate with Fayol's principle of management, order, due to the HCMs use of EMRS tools to organize billing information for business success.

# Organization of Personal Data

HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 mentioned that the organization of personal data was imperative to improve EMRS implementation. HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 used EMRS to gather patient's personal information such as home address, age, medical history, scheduled appointments, which is important so that the patient account is documented for health care staff to observe (Anderson et. al, 2017). According to HCM3:

I was able to track down a patient's secondary address through our system in order for us to order durable medical equipment. The system has made our discharge planning process more efficient compared to before with our paper charts. Prior to our electronic records we would take a longer period of time to complete discharges because we would lose sight of important information. But now we are able to complete things more seamlessly because everything is in one place.

HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 also mentioned using templates to improve the organization of patient information. Managers structure templates in EMRS so that health care providers input patient data a specific way for proper organization, thereby, justifying insurance reimbursement (James et al., 2017). HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 elaborated on the need to recreate or edit EMRS templates so that documentation is entered according to professional disciplines. HCM4 mentioned that sometimes the

EMRS will lack specific templates needed to enter data related to treatment such as housing structure (climbing steps).

#### HCM4 stated:

My PTs (physical therapists) would sometimes struggle with entering notes because the templates would be missing certain information to enter in the chart such as flights of steps in the patient's household. This is important so that we can create a proper treatment plan for the patient and prepare for future discharges. Luckily, I was able to change the templates so my PTs can enter the data without issues.

Subsequently, HCM4 was required to modify the templates so that each staff member could document the correct information. According to James et al. (2017), HCMs can adjust EMRS tools such as templates to ensure functionality for patient documentation, so health care employees can perform tasks smoothly (James et al., 2017).

According to Weaver et al. (2020), health care providers should analyze patient data from EMRS to correctly understand client problems and deliver treatment. The data retrieved from HCM3, HCM4, and HCM5 correlate with the findings from Weaver et al. (2020) study regarding managers who organize patient information in EMRS improve communication between all health care providers, which increased the possibility of insurance reimbursement. HCM5 elaborated on the following:

The way the program works is that, it's an electronic chart program that basically has the same format as a regular medical paper note. So, everything from this

objective, subjective assessment, and plans is basically what the daily note for the EMR is. Everything in terms of your intakes, in terms of your paper that you will collect for your charts, is to scan into this program. It allows us to have all of our patient information more organized so that we are able to properly treat our patients.

In conclusion of the result findings, I illustrated the importance of proper input into EMRS in outpatient clinics by discovering the five themes. The findings are important because HCMs rely on computable data, such as templates, diagnosis codes, and billing codes. HCMs also use effective communication with personnel in order to plan, coordinate, and organize a successful EMRS implementation (Anderson et. al, 2017; James et al., 2017; Weaver et al., 2020). The HCMs used control and command managerial functions to remedy EMRS implementation issues such as overcoming barriers. I explained how HCMs used the conceptual framework of Fayolism to strategize and ensure that employee usage experiences were optimal with EMRS and how staff performance could improve over time (Anderson et. al, 2017; James et al., 2017; Lambooii et al. 2017; Lomotey & Deters, 2018).

## **Application to Professional Practice**

I showed in my result study findings that there are HCMs who have successfully implemented EMRS in outpatient health care facilities, by using practical strategies to improve outcomes. The results of this study, in conjunction with the conceptual framework and the supporting literature review, may help other future entrepreneurs understand specific strategies that have improved EMRS implementation in outpatient

health care facilities. The findings from my research study may also be useful to future DBA candidates who may research EMRS implementation in health care facilities.

The onset of building an outpatient health care practice can be challenging because of a lack of resources, such as an EMRS, which can help control costs (Sushil & Raziuddin, 2018). Health care costs are continuing to increase because of an aging population, growing number of patients with chronic disease, increased acute injuries, and higher premiums (Shrank et al., 2019). Fortunately, health care information technology implementation has been beneficial for the HCMs in my research study as EMRS has increased the efficiency of transferring information between multiple areas for less wasteful spending.

The results indicate that the challenge that HCMs face is how to effectively employ strategies to improve employee usage and performance. As seen in the literature review, there are barriers to overcome (Jawhari et al., 2016), considerations to be made when it comes to data input for reimbursement (Mosweu et al., 2016), security (Or et al., 2018), and collaboration with other disciplines (Lieu et al., 2019). Based on my findings, however, the six HCM participants explained their successful strategies with EMRS implementation when five themes occurred.

The first theme was effective communication, where the HCMs used Fayol's concepts of planning and coordination through team meetings and staff training. Then, the second theme with overcoming barriers, was where the participants used Fayol's management function of control to provide employees with the support and resources they needed. Third, was effective time management, where the participants used Fayol's

order principle through allotting training time and time to make EMRS upgrades. Fourth, the HCMs used Fayol's remuneration principle, and observed compensation improving productivity, as seen when the employees are reimbursed properly. The HCMs mentioned that when they properly compensated their staff, the employees' EMRS usage and performance improved, leading to better documentation and reimbursements. The final theme was about data organization, where the HCMs used Fayol's management function of organization, to arrange personal information and finances with data procedures and protections in place. In my study, I showed the concerns and the strategies used by HCMs who have successfully implemented EMRS, to mitigate risk and resistance, demonstrating the functions of Fayolism (Anderson et. al, 2017; Clarke et al., 2016; Lomotey & Deters, 2018).

## **Implications for Social Change**

An HCM of a private practice can utilize the five strategies mentioned in the themes to improve EMRS implementation. All six of the HCMs in my research study indicated that the use of EMRS improved data organization. According to Fish and Guha (2020), managers can improve data transmission and decreased medical errors, which continue to be problematic in the health care industry. The result findings suggest that with enough preparation and proactivity, managers can help patients and members of outpatient clinics with EMRS implementation since these are the places often located in the midst of communities. Managerial EMRS implementation benefits the patients who visit these facilities when they are operating at an optimal level. HCMs implementing EMRS properly would lead to better outcomes for patients and their well-being, since

patients would be confident that their information and treatment plans are properly coordinated between disciplines. Patients would be more involved in their medical treatment because of managerial EMRS implementation in outpatient clinics. Based on the literature review and the findings of this study, businesses would be able to improve their practice with successful implementation of EMRS using the participant's strategies. Using the participant's strategies, it is possible that a difference can be made, operationally, through better employee performance, which would benefit society, as these facilities and personnel serve the community.

According to Himmelstein et al. (2020), there are managers of private outpatient clinics-who struggle to open their private practice because of the growing costs in health care. The manager's problem with growing health care costs affects the patients, as they may opt for fewer medical office visits because of expenses (Himmelstein et al., 2020). Patients who come to these outpatient clinics for rehabilitation services have insurance coverage and or use self-pay. Sushil and Raziuddin (2018) stated that managers implementing EMRS can improve performance with outpatient clinics due to the more efficient flow of patient information, therefore reducing medical errors. Managerial wasteful spending in health care funds has caused lower EMRS implementation rates in private practices (Shrank et al., 2019). The results of my study show that with proper strategies using Fayol's functions and principles of management, these financial hardships can be mitigated. The results in my research study may help future entrepreneurs find the right strategies to successfully implement EMRS in their outpatient practices, which can positively impact patient well-being.

#### **Recommendation for Action**

I was able to find five key strategies that current and future HCMs can use for EMRS implementation. The first theme, which was internal communication, is an area that HCMs should focus on to ensure that all employees understand documentation protocol. Managers communicating through team meetings and designated staff training is a beneficial way to receive and review feedback about EMRS usage. Manager and staff communication is an important way for HCMs to improve adoption and quality of documentation.

Regarding the second theme, overcoming barriers, HCMs can anticipate future problems before they occur to have a better EMRS implementation outcome. Based on the data analysis, the three areas of concern for implementation barriers were technological challenges, resistance from staff, and abrupt interruptions. HCMs can create a plan for service interruption using a different documentation system until the EMRS is reactivated. Managers can prevent employee resistance by ensuring that there is enough time to utilize the EMRS and providing additional resources such as training manuals and face-to-face meetings.

The third theme, effective time management, HCMs can distribute proper time for staff and training purposes with EMRS. Health care employees may encounter high productivity demands, which can decrease the amount of time HCMs designate for documentation, which can result in lower reimbursement rates and lack of transparency between providers and patients. The HCM can rectify the problem by allowing staff more time during and after peak hours to utilize the EMRS. The HCM can also utilize their

time to modify and improve the EMRS. The HCMs time used to improve the technology can be during off-peak hours prior to deployment, which can ensure that there are less documentation errors.

The fourth theme, compensation to improve productivity, is a step that can be used by HCMs because proper reimbursement can motivate staff to increase productivity. An example of managers using compensation to improve staff productivity would be offering an hourly rate with documentation time. The result of managers offering proper compensation to employees can be improved quality documentation. Employee satisfaction may enhance the consistency of high quality note documentation, which would improve reimbursement from insurances.

The fifth theme, efficient data organization, HCMs can take the steps needed to organize all financial and personal data prior, during, and after EMRS implementation. The HCMs can modify or implement templates within the EMRS with succinct organization so that staff documentation is structured. Another example would be that HCMs can input ICD-10 codes that are up to date into the EMRS so that billing is accurate for reimbursement. The HCMs in my study made statements that purported that their organization of information in both external files and EMRS helped make the transition period less strenuous. Shrank et al. (2019) found that the managers who fail to organize health care data cause confusion among health care staff. Therefore, HCMs can organize all information to avoid ambiguity.

HCMs may benefit from paying close attention to the results of this research study because supervisors are in control of the outcomes with patient health care when

they transmit important data through documentation. The aspiring entrepreneur or HCM of a health care practice should use every resource necessary to ensure the EMRS is implemented properly to increase the chance of business success and positively impact patient experiences. Health care professionals working with HCMs may also benefit from analyzing the results of this study to understand the importance of EMRS for quality transmission of data to improve patient outcomes.

The results of this research study will be disseminated after receiving CAO approval. I will share the results of this study within academic communities through dissertation databases worldwide between scholars and researchers. I plan to publish my research study in peer reviewed journals.

#### **Recommendation for Further Research**

In my research study, I observed limitations that were not within my control. I identified one limitation with conducting a multiple-site case study in a U.S East Coast city, which limits generalizability to one geographical area. According to Awol et al. (2020), researchers conducted other studies on EMRS implementation in areas of conveniences. However, researchers should conduct future studies to understand successful EMRS implementation strategies in other locations within the United States to improve generalizability. Investigators should conduct further research in areas outside a U.S East Coast city so that there is a more generalizable view point for HCMs looking to expand their business using successful EMRS implementation.

The second limitation I identified was that external influences could have altered the perceptions of the participants involved in my research study. One variable future

researchers may consider is the quality of the EMRS, which HCMs select to implement. There are different options and costs available for EMRS and the needs for different HCMs or health care facilities would likely vary, impacting the use and implementation strategies. Future researchers can consider conducting a product evaluation in order to understand differences in functionality, HCM selection of EMRS, and overall performance of the technology due to those selections.

One serendipitous result that I found in my study was that the HCMs had more than 5 years of experience successfully running their private practice. Future researchers may have an interest in researching successful EMRS implementation among startup health care businesses that are less than 5 years old. According to the U.S Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020), 45% of new businesses fail within the first 5 years of opening, and 65% during the first 10 years. Therefore, future researchers can further investigate how successful EMRS implementation improves business longevity beyond 2 years.

Another unanticipated result that I found in my research study was the impact of affordability during EMRS implementation. The HCMs in my research study mentioned that additional funds would be needed for advanced EMRS tools to improve data organization. The managers mentioned that because of the additional expenses, they would either choose a more affordable EMRS or learn to adapt without the additional EMRS tools. Future researchers could explore how entrepreneurs choose EMRS based on organizational needs and affordability. According to Bertagnolli et al. (2020), EMRS affordability is one of the many challenges HCMs face when planning EMRS

implementation. HCMs can offset costs if careful planning and organization of resources is in place for budgeting according to the organizational needs.

#### Reflections

The purpose of my research study was to investigate the successful strategies

HCMs use to implement EMRS in their outpatient health care facilities. I pursued this

study topic because of my experience with using EMRS in the health care field. As a

health care provider, I saw traditional paper charting slowly being phased out in favor of

EMRS at a faster rate in larger health care facilities compared to outpatient health care
facilities.

Although I had my personal opinions on the topic, I had to ensure that my biases were removed when conducting the interviews. My attempt to find participants was a challenge, especially with the COVID-19 pandemic affecting small businesses. I experienced times of feeling overwhelmed because of the level of detail needed for this research study. I also had to be assiduous with ensuring that the results aligned with my conceptual framework; however, I realized that it was important to be flexible to carefully conduct each interview and complete my study.

After completing my research study, I understood that for managers of outpatient health care clinics, the transition from traditional paper charting to EMRS can be difficult because of many factors. After conducting my research study interviews, I realize that I helped these HCMs understand how important a reliable EMRS is to successfully operate a small business practice. I found that the questions asked to the participants helped them to possibly appreciate the sacrifices they made to transition to an EMRS. The HCM's

participation as study subjects may have helped them plan out future goals to further improve the implementation and adoption process of their EMRS, which would be beneficial for the future staff and patients.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of my qualitative research multiple case study was to investigate the successful strategies that selected HCMs used to implement EMRS so that entrepreneurs can be made aware of the benefits. My research focused on six HCMs who successfully implemented EMRS to further improve business operations. Entrepreneurs of outpatient clinics should not be discouraged from implementing EMRS because the use of technology can help health care facilities evolve and adapt to the health care business environment and remain stable. The HCMs in my study demonstrated that with the selection of effective strategies for EMRS implementation, employee usage and performance can improve. The increase in employee usage and performance can have positive fiscal implications. Subsequently, patients may benefit for a smoother, and more informed operation. Health care provision in areas of need is essential to improve the wellbeing of members in society and outpatient health care facilities are more necessary than ever before.

### References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66-98.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578">http://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578</a>
- Adler-Milstein, J., & Jha, A. K. (2017). HITECH act drove large gains in hospital electronic health record adoption. *Health Affairs*, *36* (8), 1416-1422. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1651">http://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1651</a>
- Aghdam, M. R. F., Vodovnik, A., & Hameed, R. A. (2019). Role of telemedicine in multidisciplinary team meetings. *Journal of Pathology Informatics*, *10*(1), 35. <a href="https://doi.org./10.4103/jpi.jpi\_20\_19">https://doi.org./10.4103/jpi.jpi\_20\_19</a>
- Allen-Graham, J., Mitchell, L., Heriot, N., Armani, R., Langton, D., Levinson, M., Young, A., Smith, J.A., Kotsimbo, T., Wilson, J. W. (2017). Electronic health records and online medical records: An asset or a liability under current conditions? *Australian Health Review*, *42*(1), 59-65.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1071/AH16095">http://doi.org/10.1071/AH16095</a>
- Anderson, M. O., Jackson, S. L., Oster, N. V., Peacock, S., Walker, J. D., Chen, G. Y., & Elmore, J. G. (2017). Patients typing their own visit agendas into an electronic medical record: Pilot in a safety-net clinic. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *15*(2), 158-161. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2036">http://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2036</a>
- Arora, N. (2017). Qualitative research in management: Methods and experiences. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 24(1), 196-199. <a href="http://www.sajm-amdisa.org">http://www.sajm-amdisa.org</a>

- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*. 42(2), 139–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Atherton, J (2011). Development of the electronic health record. *AMA Journal of Ethics*, 13(3), 186-189. http://doi.org/10.1001/virtualmentor.2011.13.3.mhst1-1103
- Awofeso, O. (2019). Managing formal organizations in the 21st century: A critique of Fredrick Taylor's scientific management theory. *Journal of Public Management Research*. *5*(2), 1-11. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5296/jpmr.v5i2.15970">https://doi.org/10.5296/jpmr.v5i2.15970</a>
- Awol, S. M., Birhanu, A. Y., Mekonnen, Z. A., Gashu, K. D., Shiferaw, A. M., Endehabtu, B. F., Kaylayou, M., Guadia, H., Tilahun, B. (2020). Health professionals' readiness and its associated factors to implement electronic medical record system in four selected primary hospitals in Ethiopia. *Advances in Medical Education and Practice*. 11, 147-154. https://doi.org/10.2147/AMEP.S233368
- Bacud, S. A. D. (2020). Henri Fayol's principles of management and its effect to organizational leadership and governance. *Journal of Critical Reviews*. 7(11), 162-167. https://doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.11.25
- Baird, S., & Boak, G. (2016). Leading change: Introducing an electronic medical record system to a paramedic service. *Leadership in Health Services, 29*(2), 136-150. http://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-04-2015-0012
- Ballaro, J. M., Mazzi, M. A., & Holland, K. (2020). Organization development through effective communication, implementation, and change process. *Organization Development Journal*, *38*(1), 45-63. https://www.isodc.org/

- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189-1195. http://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Barrett, A. K., & Stephens, K. K. (2017). Making electronic health records (EHRs) work:

  Informal talk and workarounds in health care organizations. *Health*Communication, 32(8), 1004-1013.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1196422">http://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1196422</a>
- Barabasch, A. (2018). The narrative approach in research and its use for policy advice. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, *37*(4), 468-481. http://doi.org/10.1080/02601370.2018.1506517
- Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *Qualitative Report, 19* (40), 1-18. https://tqr.nova.edu/
- Behrens, F., & Kret, M. E. (2019). The interplay between face-to-face contact and feedback on cooperation during real-life interactions. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 34(4), 513-528 <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-019-00314-1">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-019-00314-1</a>
- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *16*(1), 1-12. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6">http://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6</a>
- Benwell, N., Hird, K., Thomas, N., Furness, E., Fear, M., & Sweetman, G. (2017).

  Effectiveness and efficiency of training in digital health care packages: Training

- doctors to use digital medical record keeping software. *Australian Health Review*, *41*(5), 479-484. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1071/AH16090">http://doi.org/10.1071/AH16090</a>
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(2), 219-234. http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bergquist, T., Pejaver, V., Hammarlund, N., Mooney, S. D., & Mooney, S. J. (2020).

  Evaluation of the secondary use of electronic health records to detect seasonal, holiday-related, and rare events related to traumatic injury and poisoning. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1-13. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8153-7">http://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8153-7</a>
- Bertagnolli, M. M., Anderson, B., Quina, A., & Piantadosi, S. (2020). The electronic health record as a clinical trials tool: Opportunities and challenges. *Clinical Trials*, *17*(3), 237-242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1740774520913819
- Blumenthal, D., Abrams, M., & Nuzum, R. (2015). The Affordable Care Act at 5 Years.

  \*New England Journal of Medicine, 372(25), 2451-2458.

  http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMhpr1503614
- Bouayad, L., Ialynytchev, A., & Padmanabhan, B. (2017). Patient health record systems scope and functionalities: Literature review and future directions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(11), 1-16. http://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8073
- Brabson, L. A., Herschell, A. D., Kolko, D. J., & Mrozowski, S. J. (2019). Associations among job role, training type, and staff turnover in a large-scale implementation initiative. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, *46*(3), 399-414. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-018-09645-1">http://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-018-09645-1</a>

- Bruce, A., Beuthin, R., Sheilds, L., Molzahn, A., & Schick-Makaroff, K. (2016).

  Narrative research evolving: Evolving through narrative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *15*(1),1-6.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406916659292">http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406916659292</a>
- Casalino, L. P., Gans, D., Weber, R., Cea, M., Tuchovsky, A., Bishop, T. F., Evenson, T. B. (2016). US physician practices spend more than \$15.4 billion annually to report quality measures. *Health Affairs*, *35*(3), 401-406. http://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1258
- Chen, H. (2018). Assessing outsourcing strategy on quality and performance of US long-term healthcare. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, *19*(2), 118-128. http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmppopen.html
- Choi, M., Lee, H. S., & Park, J. H. (2018). Effects of using mobile device-based academic electronic medical records for clinical practicum by undergraduate nursing students: A quasi-experimental study. *Nurse Education Today*, *61*, 112-119. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.11.018
- Cocosila, M., & Archer, N. (2017). Practitioner pre-adoption perceptions of electronic medical record systems. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, *36*(8), 827-838. http://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2017.1303083
- Coll, R. K., & Chapman, R. (2000). Choices of methodology for cooperative education researchers. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education*, *1*(1), 1-8. <a href="https://www.ijwil.org">https://www.ijwil.org</a>

- Crouch, P.-C. B., Rose, C. D., Johnson, M., & Janson, S. L. (2015). A pilot study to evaluate the magnitude of association of the use of electronic personal health records with patient activation and empowerment in HIV-infected veterans.

  \*PeerJ\*, 3, e852. http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.852
- Dainton, C., & Chu, C. H. (2017). A review of electronic medical record keeping on mobile medical service trips in austere settings. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 98, 33-40. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.11.008
- Dearing, J. W., & Cox, J. G. (2018). Diffusion of innovations theory, principles, and practice. *Health Affairs*. *37*(2), 183-190. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1104">https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1104</a>
- Depaoli, S., Agtarap, S., Choi, A. Y., Coburn, K. M., & Yu, J. (2018). Advances in quantitative research within the psychological sciences. *Translational Issues in Psychological Science*, 4(4), 335-339. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1037/tps0000183">http://doi.org/10.1037/tps0000183</a>
- De Vries, B. (2018). Resonating with reflexive design: On participatory design, narrative research and crystallization. *EDeR. Educational Design Research*. *2*(1). 1-13 <a href="https://doi.org/10.15460/eder.2.1.1184">https://doi.org/10.15460/eder.2.1.1184</a>
- Edwards, R. (2018). An elaboration of the administrative theory of the 14 principles of management by Henri Fayol. *International Journal for Empirical Education and Research*, *2*(6), 41-52. <a href="https://doi.org/10.35935/edr/21.5241">https://doi.org/10.35935/edr/21.5241</a>
- Elhai, J. D., & Frueh, B. C. (2016). Security of electronic mental health communication and record-keeping in the digital age. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77(2), 262-268. http://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.14r09506

- Eliyana, A., Ma'arif, S., & Muzakki. (2019). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment effect in the transformational leadership towards employee performance. *European Research on Management and Business Economics*. 25 (3), 144-150 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001</a>
- Enaizan, O., Zaidan, A. A., Alwi, N. H. M., Zaidan, B. B., Alsalem, M. A., Albahri, O. S., & Albahri, A. S. (2020). Electronic medical record systems: Decision support examination framework for individual, security and privacy concerns using multiperspective analysis. *Health and Technology*. 10, 795–822
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s12553-018-0278-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s12553-018-0278-7</a>
- Fairclough, R., & Thelwall, M. (2015). National research impact indicators from Mendeley readers. *Journal of Informetrics*. *9*(4), 845-859. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.joi.2015.08.003
- Fayol, H. (1916) General and industrial administration. France: *Bulletin de la société de l'Industrie Minérale*.
- Fish, K. E., & Guha, G. S. (2020). Towards an electronic medical record system for a rural Haitian medical clinic. *Journal of Strategic Innovation and*Sustainability, 15(4), 15-20. https://doi.org/10.33423/jsis.v15i4.2957
- Flasher, R., & Lamboy-Ruiz, M. A. (2019). Impact of enforcement on healthcare billing fraud: Evidence from the USA. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *157*(1), 217-229 <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3650-z">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3650-z</a>

- Furusa, S. S., & Coleman, A. (2018). Factors influencing e-health implementation by medical doctors in public hospitals in Zimbabwe. *South African Journal of Information Management*, 20(1) http://doi.org/10.4102/sajim. v20i1.928
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19-32. http://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Goertzen, M. J. (2017). Introduction to quantitative research and data. *Library Technology Reports*, *53*(4), 12-18. <a href="https://journals.ala.org/index.php/ltr">https://journals.ala.org/index.php/ltr</a>
- Gostin, L. O., Hyman, D. A., & Jacobson, P. D. (2017). The Affordable Care Act. *JAMA*, 317(1), 19. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.18908">http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.18908</a>
- Green, J. (2017, November 13). *How much EHR costs and how to set your budget*. https://www.ehrinpractice.com/ehr-cost-and-budget-guide.html
- Grinspan, Z. M., Bao, Y., Edwards, A., Johnson, P., Kaushal, R., & Kern, L. M. (2017). Medicaid stage 1 meaningful use EHR incentive payments are associated with higher quality but not improvements in quality. *American Journal of Medical Quality*. 32(5), 485-493. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860616673905">https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860616673905</a>
- Gudkova, S. (2017). Interviewing in qualitative research. *In Qualitative Methodologies in Organization Studies*, *2*, 75-96. Springer International Publishing. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65442-3\_4">http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65442-3\_4</a>
- Guo, U., Chen, L., & Mehta, P. H. (2017). Electronic health record innovations: Helping physicians One less click at a time. *Health Information Management Journal*, 46(3), 140-144. http://doi.org/10.1177/1833358316689481

- Halamka, J. D., & Tripathi, M. (2017). The HITECH Era in Retrospect. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 377(10), 907-909. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1709851
- Hashim, M., & Khan, M. A. (2018). Using electronic health record systems in medical education-A needs assessment. *Applied Medical Informatics Original Research*, 40(4), 74-80. <a href="https://ami.info.umfcluj.ro/index.php/AMI/article/view/636">https://ami.info.umfcluj.ro/index.php/AMI/article/view/636</a>
- Hawthorne, K. H., & Richards, L. (2017). Personal health records: A new type of electronic medical record. *Records Management Journal*. 27 (3), 286-301 <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/RMJ-08-2016-0020">http://doi.org/10.1108/RMJ-08-2016-0020</a>
- Heath, M., & Porter, T. H. (2017). Patient health records: An exploratory study of patient satisfaction. *Health Policy and Technology*, *6*(4), 401-409. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2017.10.002
- Heisey-Grove, D., & King, J. A. (2017). Physician and practice-level drivers and disparities around meaningful use progress. *Health Services Research*, *52*(1), 244-267. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12481">http://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12481</a>
- Helton, J., Wade, D., & Erhardt, R. (2017). Small clinic electronic health records implementations: An option thinking view. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, 18(1), 28-43. <a href="http://jmppnet.com">http://jmppnet.com</a>
- Hershberger, P. E., & Kavanaugh, K. (2017). Original article: Comparing appropriateness and equivalence of email interviews to phone interviews in qualitative research on reproductive decisions. Applied Nursing Research, 3750-54. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2017.07.005

- Hesse, A., Glenna, L., Hinrichs, C., Chiles, R., & Sachs, C. (2019). Qualitative research ethics in the big data era. *American Behavioral Scientist*. *63*(5), 560-583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218805806
- Himmelstein, D. U., Campbell, T., & Woolhandler, S. (2020). Health care administrative costs in the United States and Canada, 2017. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. *172*(2), 134-142. <a href="https://doi.org/10.7326/M19-2818">https://doi.org/10.7326/M19-2818</a>
- Hoffer, E. P. (2019). America's health care system is broken: What went wrong and how we can fix it. Part 5: Malpractice, fraud, waste, and the EMR. *American Journal of Medicine*. *132*(10), 1129–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.05.009
- Howard, D. (2020). False claims act liability for overtreatment. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law. 45*(3), 419-437 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-8161036">https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-8161036</a>
- Hussain, F., & Qamar, U. (2016). Identification and correction of misspelled drugs' names in electronic medical records (EMR). *Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems*, 2, 333-338.

  http://doi.org/10.5220/0005911503330338
- Ingham-Broomfield, R. (. (2017). A nurses' guide to ethical considerations and the process for ethical approval of nursing research. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 35(1), 40-47. <a href="http://www.ajan.com.au/">http://www.ajan.com.au/</a>
- Inverso, G., Flath-Sporn, S. J., Monoxelos, L., Labow, B. I., Padwa, B. L., & Resnick, C. M. (2015). What is the cost of meaningful use? Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, 74(2), 227-229. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.joms.2016.06.195

- Izgar, G., & Akturk, A. O. (2018). A mixed method research on peer assessment. *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education*, 7(2), 118-126. https://www.iaescore.com/journals/index.php/IJERE
- James, B. C., Edwards, D. P., James, A. F., Bradshaw, R. L., White, K. S., Wood, C., & Huff, S. (2017). An efficient, clinically-natural electronic medical record system that produces computable data. *EGEMs (Generating Evidence & Methods to Improve Patient Outcomes)*, *5*(3), 1-6. <a href="http://doi.org/10.5334/egems.202">http://doi.org/10.5334/egems.202</a>
- Jawhari, B., Keenan, L., Zakus, D., Ludwick, D., Isaac, A., Saleh, A., & Hayward, R. (2016). Barriers and facilitators to electronic medical record (EMR) use in an urban slum. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 94, 246-254.
  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.07.015">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.07.015</a>
- Jindal, S. K., & Raziuddin, F. (2018). Electronic medical record use and perceived medical error reduction. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 10(1), 84-95. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-12-2016-0081">http://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-12-2016-0081</a>
- Karuppan, C. M. (2014). Employer-based coverage and medical travel options: Lessons for healthcare managers. *Journal of Healthcare Management / American College of Healthcare Executives*. *59*(3), 210-222. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1097/00115514-201405000-00009">http://doi.org/10.1097/00115514-201405000-00009</a>
- Kassan, A., Goopy, S., Green, A., Arthur, N., Nutter, S., Russell-Mayhew, S., Vazquez,
  M. S., & Silversides, H. (2020). Becoming new together: making meaning with
  newcomers through an arts-based ethnographic research design. *Qualitative*

- Research in Psychology. 17(2), 294–311, https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1442769
- Koppel, R., & Kuziemsky, C. (2019). Healthcare data are remarkably vulnerable to hacking: Connected healthcare delivery increases the risks. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*. 257, 218-222. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-951-5-218">https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-951-5-218</a>
- Krish, P., Salehuddin, K., & Razak, N.A (2017). Engaging postgraduate students in preparing research proposals. *Akademika*, 87(1), 243-252. http://doi.org/10.17576/akad-2017-8701-18
- Kruse, C. S., Kristof, C., Jones, B., Mitchell, E., & Martinez, A. (2016). Barriers to electronic health record adoption: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 40 (12) http://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0628-9
- Larkin, M., Shaw, R., & Flowers, P. (2018). Multiperspectival designs and processes in interpretative phenomenological analysis research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *16* (1) <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1540655">http://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1540655</a>
- Lambooij, M. S., Drewes, H. W., & Koster, F. (2017). Use of electronic medical records and quality of patient data: Different reaction patterns of doctors and nurses to the hospital organization. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 17 (1) <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-017-0412-x">http://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-017-0412-x</a>
- Laud, R., Arevalo, J., & Johnson, M. (2015). The changing nature of managerial skills, mindsets and roles: Advancing theory and relevancy for contemporary managers.

- Journal of Management and Organization, 22(4), 435-456. http://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2015.48
- Lee, Y., & Queenie Li, J.-Y. (2020). The value of internal communication in enhancing employees' health information disclosure intentions in the workplace. *Public Relations Review*, 46(1), N.PAG. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.10187">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.10187</a>
- Lele, A. (2019). Cloud computing. In: Disruptive Technologies for the Militaries and Security. *Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies*. *132*, 167-185. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3384-2\_10
- Lieu, T. A., Altschuler, A., Weiner, J. Z., East, J. A., Moeller, M. F., Prausnitz, S., Reed, M. E., Warton, E. M., Goler, N., Awsare, S. (2019). Primary care physicians' experiences with and strategies for managing electronic messages. *JAMA Network Open.* 2(12), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.18287
- Lomotey, R. K., & Deters, R. (2018). Middleware for mobile medical data management with minimal latency. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 20(6), 1281-1296. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-016-9729-8
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *FIELD METHODS*, *30*(3), 191-207. http://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X17749386
- Mao, H., & Sun, Y. (2017). A way to understand inpatients based on the electronic medical records in the big data environment. *International Journal of Telemedicine and Applications*, <a href="http://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9185686">http://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9185686</a>

- Martins, L. B., Zerbini, T., & Medina, F. J. (2019). Impact of Online Training on Behavioral Transfer and Job Performance in a Large Organization. *Revista de Psicologia Del Trabajo y de Las Organizaciones*, 35(1), 27-37. <a href="https://doiorg/10.5093/jwop2019a4">https://doiorg/10.5093/jwop2019a4</a>
- McAlearney, S., Hilligoss, B., & Song, P. H. (2017). Private sector accountable care organization development: A qualitative study. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 23(3), 151-158. <a href="http://www.ajmc.com">http://www.ajmc.com</a>
- Mennemeyer, S. T., Menachemi, N., Rahurkar, S., & Ford, E. W. (2016). Impact of the HITECH act on physicians' adoption of electronic health records. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 23(2), 375-379. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocv103">http://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocv103</a>
- Mills, K. A. (2018). What are the threats and potentials of big data for qualitative research? *Qualitative Research*. *18*(6), 591-603. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117743465
- Mijin, N., Jang, H., Choi, B., & Khongorzul, G. (2019). Attitude toward the use of electronic medical record systems: Exploring moderating effects of self-image. *Information Development*, 35(1), 67-79.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0266666917729730">https://doi.org/10.1177/0266666917729730</a>
- Mitra, A., Israel, D., & Sharma, M. (2020). Impact of compensation satisfaction on intention to quit: Mediating role of job satisfaction. South Asian Journal of Management, 27(3), 129-155. <a href="http://sajm-amdisa.org">http://sajm-amdisa.org</a>

- Modena, B. D., Bellahsen, O., Nikzad, N., Chieh, A., Parikh, N., Dufek, D. M., Ebner, G., Topol, E.J., Steinhubl, S. (2018). Advanced and accurate mobile health tracking devices record new cardiac vital signs. *Hypertension*. 72(2),503-510 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11177">https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11177</a>
- Morris, M., Powick, A., Vettori, E. de, & Purdy, L. (2016). 2016 Global health care outlook: Battling costs while improving care. *Deloitte*.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.13261/j.cnki.jfutcm.001992">http://doi.org/10.13261/j.cnki.jfutcm.001992</a>
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 1212-1222. http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501
- Mosadeghrad, A. (2014). Occupational stress and its consequences. *Leadership in Health Services*, 27(3), 224-239. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-07-2013-0032">http://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-07-2013-0032</a>
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  1: Introduction. *The European Journal of General Practice*, 23(1), 271-273.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375093">http://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375093</a>
- Mosweu, O., Bwalya, K., & Mutshewa, A. (2016). Examining factors affecting the adoption and usage of document workflow management system (DWMS) using the UTAUT model. *Records Management Journal*, 26(1), 38-67. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/RMJ-03-2015-0012">http://doi.org/10.1108/RMJ-03-2015-0012</a>
- Msiska, K. E. M., Kumitawa, A., & Kumwenda, B. (2017). Factors affecting the utilization of electronic medical records system in Malawian central hospitals.

  \*Malawi Medical Journal\*, 29(3), 247-253. <a href="http://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v29i3.4">http://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v29i3.4</a>

- Namageyo-Funa, A., Aketch, M., Tabu, C., MacNeil, A., & Bloland, P. (2018).

  Assessment of select electronic health information systems that support immunization data capture Kenya, 2017. *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 1-8. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3435-9">http://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3435-9</a>
- Naeem, M., & Alqasimi, I. (2020). Unfolding and addressing the issues of electronic medical record implementation. *Information Resources Management Journal*. 33(3), 59-80. https://doi.org/10.4018/irmj.2020070103
- Narattharaksa, K., Speece, M., Newton, C., & Bulyalert, D. (2016). Key success factors behind electronic medical record adoption in Thailand. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, *30*(6), 985-1008.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-10-2014-0180">http://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-10-2014-0180</a>
- Ngozwana, N. (2018). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research methodology:

  Researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology, 4*(1),

  19-28. <a href="http://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.19">http://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.19</a>
- Ngugi, P., Were, M. C., & Babic, A. (2018). Facilitators and Barriers of Electronic Medical Records Systems Implementation in Low Resource Settings: A Holistic View. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*. 251, 187-190. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-880-8-187
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*. *18*(2), 34-5 <a href="http://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054">http://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</a>
- Or, C., Tong, E., Tan, J., & Chan, S. (2018). Exploring factors affecting voluntary adoption of electronic medical records among physicians and clinical assistants of

- small or solo private general practice clinics. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 42(7), 1-12. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-018-0971-0
- Palmer, J., Pocock, C., & Burton, L. (2018). Waiting, power and time in ethnographic and community-based research. *Qualitative Research*, *18*(4), 416-432. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117728413">http://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117728413</a>
- Paltridge, B. (2017). The discourse of peer review: Reviewing submissions to academic journals. *Academic Journals*, 49(2) <a href="http://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-48736-0">http://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-48736-0</a>
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(10), 1-7. http://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Peaucelle, J. L., & Guthrie, C. (2015). Henri Fayol, the manager. Henri Fayol, the Manager. http://doi.org/10.4324/9781315654546
- Puttkammer, N., Baseman, J., Devine, E., Valles, J., Hyppolite, N., Garilus, F., Honoré,
  J., Matheson, A., Zeliadt, S., Yuhas, K., Sherr, K., Cadet, J., Zamor, G., Pierre, E.,
  Barnhart S. (2016). An assessment of data quality in a multi-site electronic
  medical record system in Haiti. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 86(2), 104-116. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.11.003
- Ratanawongsa, N., Matta, G. Y., Bohsali, F. B., & Chisolm, M. S. (2018). Reducing misses and near misses related to multitasking on the electronic health record:

  Observational study and qualitative analysis. *JMIR Human Factors*, 5(1), <a href="http://doi.org/10.2196/humanfactors.9371">http://doi.org/10.2196/humanfactors.9371</a>

- Raymond, L, Paré, G., Ortiz de Guinea, A., Poba-Nzaou, P., Trudel, M.-C., Marsan, J., & Micheneau, T. (2015). Improving performance in medical practices through the extended use of electronic medical record systems: A survey of Canadian family physicians. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 15(1), 27. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-015-0152-8">http://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-015-0152-8</a>
- Rechtman, Y. M., Rashbaum, K. N., & Gelzer, R. D. (2019). Understanding electronic medical records: Reliability and integrity as critical components of medical practice valuation, profitability, and compliance: Certified public accountant. *The CPA Journal*, 89(6), 58-61.

  <a href="https://www.cpajournal.com/2019/07/15/understanding-electronic-medical-records/">https://www.cpajournal.com/2019/07/15/understanding-electronic-medical-records/</a>
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824-831. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586">http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586</a>
- Rittenhouse, D. R., Ramsay, P. P., Casalino, L. P., McClellan, S., Kandel, Z. K., & Shortell, S. M. (2017). Increased health information technology adoption and use among small primary care physician practices over time: A national cohort study. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *15*(1), 56-62. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1992">http://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1992</a>
- Roberts, N., Mellott, M., Dinger, M., & Campbell, D. (2016). Electronic medical record system avoidance in a turbulent environment. *Information and Management*, 53(5), 581-590. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2016.01.003

- Rogers, E. M. (1962). *Diffusion of innovation*. Free Press of Glencoe. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.28.110601.141051
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Exploring the evidence. Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, *45*(2), 209-213. https://www.annanurse.org/resources/products/nephrology-nursing-journal
- Rousseau, D. M., & Gunia, B. (2016). Evidence-Based Practice: The Psychology of EBP Implementation, 67, 667-692 SSRN. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122414-033336
- Samson, O. O., Ojo, O., Oladokun, T. T., & Olabisi, S. A. (2019). Factors influencing service quality. *Property Management*, 37(2), 215-228

http://doi.org/10.1108/PM-05-2018-0035

- Sahin, F., Gürbüz, S., & Sesen, H. (2017). Leaders' managerial assumptions and transformational leadership: The moderating role of gender. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *38*(1), 105-125. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-11-2015-0239
- Sauder, M. H., Becker, F., Malcarne, B., & Saville, J. (2020). Team meeting 101: An investigation of cognitive engagement and self-efficacy in a unique active learning instructional technique. *SCHOLE: A Journal of Leisure Studies and Recreation Education*, 35(1), 15-27.

http://doi.org/10.1080/1937156x.2020.1720457

- Schachner, M. B., Sommer, J. A., González, Z. A., Luna, D. R., & Benítez, S. E. (2016). Evaluating the feasibility of using mobile devices for nurse documentation. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, *225*, 495-499. http://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-658-3-495
- Shrank, W. H., Rogstad, T. L., & Parekh, N. (2019). Waste in the US health care system:

  Estimated costs and potential for savings. *JAMA Journal of the American*Medical Association, 322(15), 1501-1509.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.13978">http://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.13978</a>
- Sikula, D. L. A., S.R., Lee, T., Dodds, A. A., & Na, Y. (2016). Effect of physician IT use on practice performance. *Journal of Health and Human Services*Administration, 39(3), 357-382. http://jhhsa.spaef.org
- Smart, C., Froomberg, N., & Auburn, T. (2018). What a discursive understanding of interprofessional team meetings might reveal: an exploration of intellectual (learning) disability managers' performances. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 32(6), 689-698. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2018.1500450">http://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2018.1500450</a>
- Sorsa, M. A., Kiikkala, I., & Åstedt-Kurki, P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*, *22*(4), 8-12. http://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.4.8e1317
- Strudsholm, T., Meadows, L. M., Robinson Vollman, A., Thurston, W. E., & Henderson, R. (2016). Using mixed methods to facilitate complex, multiphased health research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *15*(1), 1-11. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915624579">http://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915624579</a>

- Su, Y. (2017). Taylor scientific management theory carding and significance of organization management. *Social Sciences*. *6*(4),102-107. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ss.20170604.12
- Sushil, K. J., & Raziuddin, F. (2018). Electronic medical record use and perceived medical error reduction. *International Journal of Quality and Service*Sciences, 10(1), 84-95. http://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-12-2016-0081
- Trochim, W. (2006) *Qualitative Validity*. (2006). http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/qualval.php
- Tsai, M. F., Hung, S. Y., Yu, W. J., Chen, C. C., & Yen, D. C. (2019). Understanding physicians' adoption of electronic medical records: Healthcare technology self-efficacy, service level and risk perspectives. *Computer Standards and Interfaces*. 66, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csi.2019.04.001
- Tung, T. D. (2018). How spirituality, climate and compensation affect job performance. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 14(2), 396-409.
  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-05-2016-0086">http://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-05-2016-0086</a>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont Report*. http://www.hhs.gov
- U.S Department of Labor (2020, February 28). *U.S Bureau of Labor and Statistics* https://www.bls.gov/bdm/entrepreneurship/entrepreneurship.htm
- Uzuegbu, C. P., & Nnadozie, C. O. (2015). Henry Fayol's 14 principles of management: Implications for libraries and information centres. *Journal of Information Science Theory and Practice*, 3(2), 58-72. http://doi.org/10.1633/JISTaP.2015.3.2.5

- Vadillo, P. C., O.T.R./L., Rojo, Estrellita S,R.N.C., C.C.R.N., Garces, A., R.N.C., & Checton, M. G., PhD. (2016). Maximizing health care professionals' use of new computer technologies in a small, urban hospital's critical care unit. *Journal of Health Care Management*, 61(5), 352-363.
  - http://www.ache.org/Publications/SubscriptionPurchase.aspx#jhm
- van Dongen, J. J. J., Habets, I. G. J., Beurskens, A., & van Bokhoven, M. A. (2017).

  Successful participation of patients in interprofessional team meetings: A

  qualitative study. *Health Expectations*. 20(4), 724-733.

  https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12511
- Vezyridis, P., & Timmons, S. (2015). On the adoption of personal health records: some problematic issues for patient empowerment. *Ethics and Information*Technology, 17(2), 113-124. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-015-9365-x">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-015-9365-x</a>
- Vos, J. F. J., Boonstra, A., Kooistra, A., Seelen, M., & Marjolein, v. O. (2020). The influence of electronic health record use on collaboration among medical specialties. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20, 1-11.
  <a href="http://doi.org.10.1186/s12913-020-05542-6">http://doi.org.10.1186/s12913-020-05542-6</a>
- Waqanimaravu, M., & Arasanmi, C. N. (2020). Employee training and service quality in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, *23*(3), 216-227. https://doi-org/10.1080/15378020.2020.1724850
- Weaver, M. S., Anderson, B., Cole, A., & Lyon, M. E. (2020). Documentation of Advance Directives and Code Status in Electronic Medical Records to Honor

- Goals of Care. *Journal of Palliative Care*, *35*(4), 217-220. https://doi.org/10.1177/0825859719860129
- Xiao-Ying, Z., & Peiying, Z. (2016). Recent perspectives of electronic medical record systems (Review). *Experimental & Therapeutic Medicine*, 11(6), 2083-2085. http://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3233
- Yusof, M., & Sahroni, M. N. (2018). Investigating health information systems-induced errors. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, *31*(8), 1014-1029. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-07-2017-0125">http://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-07-2017-0125</a>
- Zhang, L., Peng, M., Wang, W., Su, Y., Cui, S., & Kim, S. (2021). Secure and efficient data storage and sharing scheme based on double blockchain. *Computers, Materials and Continua*. 66(1), 499-515.
  https://doi.org/10.32604/cmc.2020.012205
- Zhang, X., & Zhang, P. (2016). Recent perspectives of electronic medical record systems.

  \*Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine, 11(6), 2083-2085.

  http://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3233

# Appendix: Interview Protocol

Script before the	Thank you for participating in my research study. As mentioned in the
interview:	consent form, the purpose of my research is to explore the implementation
	strategies used with electronic medical record systems in your health care
	practice. This interview may last between 30-60 minutes, during which I
	will ask you questions about the EMRS implementation strategies used by
	you at your health care practice.
	I emailed you the consent form for your permission to participate in this
	study. Here are two hard copies of the same. Please let me know if you
	have questionsYesNo
	If no: As you have agreed to participate in my study, please sign the
	consent form and return one copy to me.
	Are you ok with me audio recording the interview?YesNo
	If yes: Thanks! Please let me know if you want me to switch of the audio
	recorder at any time.
	If no: Thanks for letting me know. I will only take notes of our
	conversation.
	Before we begin the interview, do you have any questions? (Discuss
	questions if any).
	If any questions arise at any time during this interview, please let me
	know, and I will be happy to answer them

## **Interview Questions**

- 1. What were your goals when coordinating the implementation of your organization's EMRS?
- 2. How did you plan your objectives to ensure a smooth transition from the previous medical record system to the current EMRS?
- 3. What were the key barriers to successfully implementing the strategies for EMRS?
- 4. How did your organizational leaders address the key barriers to implementing the strategies for implementing the EMRS?
- 5. Based upon your experience within your organization, how have you been able to address staff concerns regarding EMRS implementation?
- 6. Based upon your experience within your organization, how has your employees responded to the coordination of EMRS implementation?
- 7. What were the key training strategies used to successfully implement the EMRS in your organization?
- 8. What political complications did you encounter when implementing EMRS?
- 9. How do you and your organizational leaders plan to improve the EMRS?
- 10. What additional information would you like to share about EMRS implementation strategies?

Thank you for answering all the questions. I will create the interpretations
of your responses and will meet you again for the member checking
interviews. These follow-up interviews will not last more than 20 minutes.

Member Checking Interviews	
Script before the	Thank you for agreeing to meet me again. Here is a copy of the member
interview:	checking document, which includes the interpretations of your earlier
	responses. Please review them and let me know if my interpretations
	are correct or if you want to add something more to your earlier
	responses.
	(Hand over or send the member checking document to the participant for
	validation).
After the interview:	Has the participant shared additional information during the member checking
	interview?yesNo
	If yes: Thanks for reviewing the member checking documents. I will complete
	my interpretations of your responses and will schedule another
	member checking interview which will not last more than 20 minutes.
	If no: Thanks for reviewing the member checking documents. I will share a
	copy of the study findings for your information at the completion of
	my research.